Computational Quantum Secret Sharing

Alper Çakan Carnegie Mellon University acakan@andrew.cmu.edu

Chen-Da Liu-Zhang* NTT Research chen-da.liuzhang@ntt-research.com Vipul Goyal NTT Research & Carnegie Mellon University vipul@cmu.edu

João Ribeiro* NOVA LINCS NOVA School of Science and Technology joao.ribeiro@fct.unl.pt

Abstract

Quantum secret sharing (QSS) allows a dealer to distribute a secret quantum state among a set of parties in such a way that certain authorized subsets can reconstruct the secret, while unauthorized subsets obtain no information about it. Previous works on QSS for general access structures focused solely on the *existence* of perfectly secure schemes, and the share size of the known schemes is necessarily exponential even in cases where the access structure is computed by polynomial size monotone circuits. This stands in stark contrast to the classical setting, where *polynomial-time* computationally-secure secret sharing schemes have been long known for all access structures computed by polynomial-size monotone circuits under standard hardness assumptions, and one can even obtain shares which are much shorter than the secret (which is impossible with perfect security).

While QSS was introduced over twenty years ago, previous works only considered informationtheoretic privacy. In this work, we initiate the study of *computationally-secure* QSS and show that computational assumptions help significantly in building QSS schemes, just as in the classical case. We present a simple compiler and use it to obtain a large variety results: We construct *polynomial-time* computationally-secure QSS schemes under standard hardness assumptions for a rich class of access structures. This includes many access structures for which previous results in QSS necessarily required exponential share size. In fact, we can go even further: We construct QSS schemes for which the size of the quantum shares is significantly smaller than the size of the secret. As in the classical setting, this is impossible with perfect security.

We also apply our compiler to obtain results beyond computational QSS. In the information-theoretic setting, we improve the share size of perfect QSS schemes for a large class of *n*-party access structures to $1.5^{n+o(n)}$, improving upon best known schemes and matching the best known result for general access structures in the classical setting. Finally, among other things, we study the class of access structures which can be efficiently implemented when the quantum secret sharing scheme has access to a given number of copies of the secret, including all such functions in P and NP.

^{*}Part of the work was done while at Carnegie Mellon University.

Contents

1	Introduction	3
	1.1 A summary of our contributions	4
	1.2 Technical overview	9
	1.3 Related work	13
2	Preliminaries	14
	2.1 Notation	14
	2.2 Quantum information theory	14
	2.3 Quantum adversarial model	16
	2.4 Classical secret sharing	16
	2.5 Quantum erasure-correcting codes	17
	2.6 Quantum secret sharing	17
3	The compiler	18
4	Computational quantum secret sharing of long messages with short shares	23
5	Efficient quantum secret sharing for heavy functions in monotone P	25
6	Efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for heavy monotone functions in mNP	26
7	Perfect quantum secret sharing with share size breaking the circuit size barrier	26
8	Quantum secret sharing using multiple copies	27
9	Heavy monotone functions are as hard as arbitrary monotone functions	29
10	Beyond heavy monotone functions	30
	10.1 Weighted heavy monotone functions	30 21
	10.2 Trees of weighted-heavy monotone functions	91
A	Quantum information theory	37
в	Coding theory	39

1 Introduction

Classical secret sharing [Bla79, Sha79] is a fundamental cryptographic primitive which allows one to share a classical bit-string (the secret) among n parties so that (i) only authorized subsets of parties can reconstruct the secret, and (ii) unauthorized subsets have essentially no information about the secret. The associated class of authorized sets, called the *access structure*, is defined by a monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ with a set $P \subseteq [n]$ being authorized if and only if $f(v^P) = 1$, where $v^P \in \{0,1\}^n$ is the characteristic vector of P satisfying $v_i^P = 1$ exactly when $i \in P$. For the sake of convenience, we will often write f(P) for $f(v^P)$ when the context is clear.

Secret sharing has found several applications in cryptography, see the extensive survey of Beimel [Bei11] for a discussion of such applications. Motivated by these applications, it is important to design secret sharing schemes realizing a given monotone function which are as efficient as possible, be it in terms of requiring polynomial-time sharing and reconstruction procedures or, more modestly, requiring that the resulting shares be as short as possible. Blakley [Bla79] and Shamir [Sha79] originally described efficient secret sharing schemes for *threshold* monotone functions (where a set P is authorized if and only if $|P| \ge t$ for a given threshold t). A long line of research over the past 40 years has significantly extended and complemented these results.

Of particular importance to us, it is known how to exploit different computational hardness assumptions to obtain efficient *computational* secret sharing schemes realizing a broad class of monotone functions, where by *efficient* we mean that the scheme enjoys polynomial-time sharing and reconstruction. In particular, such schemes also have polynomial sized shares. Early work of Yao [Yao89, VNS⁺03] described families of efficient *computational* secret sharing schemes realizing all functions in monotone P, i.e., all sequences of monotone functions $(f_n)_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^+}$ with $f_n : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ that are computed by a sequence of poly(n)-size monotone circuits,^{*} based on the existence of one-way functions. A more recent work by Komargodski, Naor, and Yogev [KNY14] succeeded in designing such efficient computational schemes realizing all functions in[†] mNP assuming witness encryption for NP and one-way functions.[‡] Following this, Bartusek and Malavolta [BM21] designed efficient computational schemes for *classical* secrets realizing all monotone functions in QMA assuming witness encryption for this class.

Given the advent of quantum computing, it is natural to consider the construction of schemes for sharing a quantum state, as opposed to a classical bitstring. This problem was first considered in [HBB99, KKI99, CGL99] for some specific monotone functions. Follow-up works by Gottesman [Got00] and Smith [Smi00] showed how to design quantum secret sharing schemes for all allowable monotone functions.[§] Of particular relevance, Smith [Smi00] constructed quantum secret sharing schemes realizing monotone functions f whose total share size is equal to the size of the smallest monotone span program computing f, thus generalizing a seminal classical result of Karchmer and Wigderson [KW93] to the quantum setting.

Remarkably, the result of Smith [Smi00] still remains the state-of-the-art for quantum secret sharing realizing broad classes of monotone functions more than 20 years later, and it leaves significant loose ends. In fact, it is now known that there are functions in monotone P which only have exponentially large associated monotone span programs [RPRC16, PR17]. This means that with the current methods the best quantum secret sharing scheme realizing such monotone func-

^{*}Throughout this paper, we make the parametrization of the sequence of monotone functions in terms of n implicit when clear from context.

^{\dagger}We denote by mNP the class of monotone functions in NP.

^{\ddagger}The notion of secret sharing for functions in mNP requires that the reconstructor receive not only an authorized subset of shares, but also a polynomial-size witness certifying that this subset is authorized.

[§]Not all monotone functions allow a quantum secret sharing scheme. We discuss this in more detail later.

tions requires exponential share size. In contrast, as mentioned before, we have efficient computational *classical* secret sharing schemes realizing all such functions under standard hardness assumptions [Yao89, VNS⁺03]. Moreover, if we are willing to upgrade our hardness assumptions, then we know such efficient classical schemes for the much broader class of monotone functions in mNP [KNY14].

1.1 A summary of our contributions

Given the state of affairs above, the following questions arise naturally:

Can we use computational hardness assumptions to significantly expand the class of monotone functions that can be realized by efficient quantum secret sharing schemes? Furthermore, can we improve the share size of schemes for an even broader class of monotone functions?

We make significant progress in this direction via a new and streamlined approach. While the concept of quantum secret sharing has been around for over twenty years, the work so far has only considered the notion of information-theoretic privacy for such schemes, in contrast to the classical setting. In this work, we initiate the study of computationally-secure quantum secret sharing. By leveraging standard hardness assumptions, we show how a conceptually simple compiler utilizing the idea of hybrid encoding allows us to obtain schemes which are far more efficient than those constructed using the current methods. Our simple compiler allows us to obtain a quantum secret sharing scheme from a classical secret sharing scheme and a quantum erasure correcting code. Using this compiler, we design quantum secret sharing schemes with various desirable properties by lifting well-known classical results to the quantum setting. In particular, we are able to lift the results of Yao [Yao89, VNS⁺03] and Komargodski-Naor-Yogev [KNY14] to the quantum setting for a broad class of monotone functions which we show inherits many relevant properties from general monotone functions. Moreover, we are also able to use our general approach to lift many other results from classical secret sharing to the quantum setting, such as computational secret sharing of long messages with short shares and general perfect secret sharing with share size breaking the circuit barrier. Finally, we are able to obtain efficient schemes for any function in monotone P, given sufficiently many (at most n) copies of the secret.

The key difficulty. One major difficulty that separates quantum from classical secret sharing is the *no-cloning theorem* [WZ82], which precludes copying unknown quantum states. This means that basic techniques, such as giving copies of the same component to several parties, cannot be exploited. In other words, there are no quantum secret sharing schemes realizing the OR function. Consequently, the approaches behind many fundamental classical results cannot be directly extended to the quantum setting, and so this lifting requires different ideas. We proceed to describe our contributions and formal results in more detail. Our results follow from a simple generic compiler, using the general paradigm of hybrid encoding, from classical to quantum secret sharing that we design and analyze.

Heavy monotone functions. Due to the no-cloning theorem, quantum secret sharing schemes are only able to realize what we call *no-cloning* monotone functions [CGL99]. These are monotone functions f with the property that f(P) = 1 implies $f(\overline{P}) = 0$, i.e., the complement of an authorized set is unauthorized. As discussed above, we know how to construct quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all no-cloning monotone functions [Got00, Smi00], but the state-of-the-art share size for all such functions f corresponds to the size of the smallest monotone span program computing f, which may be extremely large even for "simple" no-cloning monotone functions f in monotone P.

We first focus on a natural subclass of no-cloning monotone functions which we call *heavy* monotone functions.

Definition 1 (Heavy function). A monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is said to be t-heavy if for any set $P \subseteq [n]$ with f(P) = 1, we have $|P| \ge t$. When $t \ge \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1$, we simply say that f is heavy.

Equivalently, t-heavy monotone functions correspond exactly to the class of monotone functions with minimal authorized sets[¶] of size at least t. Note also that a t-out-of-n threshold function is a special case of a t-heavy function.

A t-heavy function with t > n/2 satisfies the no-cloning property, and thus can be realized by a quantum secret sharing scheme. Naturally, one may wonder whether the class of heavy monotone functions is interesting. For example, it could be the case at first sight that all heavy monotone functions are computed by polynomial-size monotone span programs, in which case we would already know efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for all such functions via Smith's construction [Smi00]. We show that this is, in fact, not the case: Heavy monotone functions inherit the complexity of *arbitrary* monotone functions, as made precise in the following result (see Section 9 for the proof).

Proposition 1. Let mSP(f) and mC(f) denote the size of the smallest monotone span program and monotone circuit computing f, respectively. Then, for every monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ there exists a heavy monotone function $f' : \{0,1\}^{2n} \to \{0,1\}$ such that $mSP(f') \ge \frac{mSP(f)}{2n}$ and $mC(f') \le mC(f) + n$. Moreover, if f is in mNP, then so is f'.

In words, Proposition 1 states that for every monotone function f there is a corresponding heavy monotone function f' with essentially the same complexity in terms of monotone span programs and monotone circuits. Combining Proposition 1 with recent results from [RPRC16, PR17] leads to the following corollary.

Corollary 1. There exist heavy monotone functions in monotone P which require monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$.

This corollary is very relevant in the context of secret sharing. It shows that there are *heavy* monotone functions for which we have efficient computational *classical* secret sharing schemes via Yao's construction, but for which the best known method [Smi00] for constructing *quantum* secret sharing schemes requires exponential share size.

Computational quantum secret sharing of long messages with short shares. As our first contribution, we consider the task of sharing secrets consisting of multiple qubits at once. Naively, this can be accomplished by sharing each qubit in parallel. However, we would like to do considerably better.

In the classical setting, Krawczyk [Kra94] showed that we can share a sufficiently long secret bitstring *using shares that are much shorter than the secret* under standard hardness assumptions via a basic technique. Moreover, it is easy to see that this is impossible to achieve in the case of perfect secret sharing [KGH83]. Using our general approach, we obtain a quantum analogue of Krawczyk's result, thus showing that we can share a high-dimensional secret quantum state

[¶]We say that P is a minimal authorized set for f if f(P) = 1 but f(S) = 0 for all strict subsets $S \subsetneq P$.

using quantum shares of much lower dimension than the secret under standard post-quantum hardness assumptions. As in the classical setting, this is impossible to achieve with perfect security. Gottesman [Got00] showed that, in this case, shares of important parties (i.e., parties whose removal from some authorized set make it unauthorized) must be at least as large as the secret. Therefore, in particular, the above cannot be achieved by perfectly secure quantum secret sharing schemes even for the simplest case of threshold monotone functions. Furthermore, the currently known quantum secret sharing schemes can only achieve exponential share size per message size ratio for some functions whereas below we show that we can achieve a share size per message size ratio below 1 for sufficiently long messages.

We now provide some more details. Suppose we wish to share a secret composed by m qubits. Then, our quantity of interest is the *information ratio* of a quantum secret sharing scheme [Bei11], which is given by

$$\frac{\max_{i\in[n]}|S_i|}{m},$$

where $|S_i|$ denotes the number of qubits used to describe the *i*-th share of the scheme. Then, our goal is to design efficient quantum secret sharing schemes whose information ratio is as small as possible as a function of the secret size *m* and the number of parties *n*. As mentioned above, information-theoretic schemes always have information ratio at least 1 [Got00], and so we must use computational assumptions to break this barrier. The following theorem is a notable special case of our general approach.

Theorem 1. If f is a t-heavy monotone function, with t > n/2, computed by monotone circuits of size $O(n^d)$, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f with asymptotic information ratio at most $\frac{32}{2t-n}$ for secrets composed of at least $m = \Omega(n^{cd})$ qubits for a universal constant c > 0 based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

In particular, observe that when $t > (\frac{1}{2} + \delta)n$ for an arbitrary constant $\delta > 0$, Theorem 1 guarantees that the information ratio is not only well below 1 but actually behaves as O(1/n) when n is large enough. This is optimal up to the constant factor, since the sum of the sizes of all shares must be at least $m \ge 1$.

Efficient computational quantum secret sharing. As our second result, we show that we can leverage computational hardness assumptions to obtain significantly more efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for heavy monotone functions, even when sharing a single qubit.

Theorem 2. If f is a heavy monotone function in monotone P, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Theorem 3. If f is a heavy monotone function in mNP, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure witness encryption for NP and one-way functions.

Note that, by Corollary 1, it follows that both Theorems 2 and 3 provide an *exponential* improvement on the efficiency of known quantum secret sharing schemes for heavy monotone functions.

Interestingly, computational quantum secret sharing had not been studied until our work. Furthermore, there is a curious phenomenon with respect to computational privacy in the quantum setting: Because of the no-cloning theorem, there are monotone functions for which correctness of the quantum secret sharing scheme gives perfect privacy for free, and so computational assumptions cannot be used to obtain improved schemes realizing such monotone functions. More precisely, if f is *self-dual*, meaning that f(P) = 1 if and only if $f(\overline{P}) = 0$, then correcting erasures on \overline{P} implies (via the no-cloning theorem) that the shares corresponding to the subset of parties \overline{P} yield no information about the secret qubit [CGL99]. Therefore, perfect reconstruction implies perfect privacy in this case. On the other hand, our results above show that computational assumptions can be helpful in obtaining efficient quantum secret sharing schemes realizing a broader class of monotone functions.

We remark that our results extend beyond the class of heavy monotone functions. We discuss these extensions in detail later in this section.

Beyond computational secret sharing: Perfect quantum secret sharing with share size breaking the circuit size barrier. We also extend our approach to obtain new results beyond computational quantum secret sharing. Until recently, the state-of-the-art classical *perfect* secret sharing schemes for arbitrary *n*-party monotone functions required share size $\Omega(2^n/\sqrt{n})$ [BL88] – the so-called *circuit-size barrier*. However, a recent groundbreaking line of research [LVW18, LV18, ABF⁺19, ABNP20, AN21] has succeeded in constructing classical perfect secret sharing schemes for arbitrary monotone functions with share size $1.5^{n+o(n)}$, well below the circuit size barrier. In this work, we obtain a quantum analogue of this result.

Theorem 4. If $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is a heavy monotone function, then there is a perfect quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f with a total share size of $1.5^{n+o(n)}$ classical bits and $O(n \log n)$ qubits.

Observe that Theorem 4 is a significant improvement over the previous known results for information-theoretic quantum secret sharing [Got00, Smi00]. In fact, if all heavy monotone functions were computed by monotone span programs of size less than $1.5^{n+o(n)}$, then Proposition 1 implies that the same would hold for all monotone functions – a major improvement over currently known results. Therefore, the previous constructions from [Got00, Smi00] require much larger total share size for some heavy monotone functions than Theorem 4.

Bypassing the no-cloning theorem: Quantum secret sharing with multiple copies. As we have seen above, not all monotone functions can be realized by standard quantum secret sharing schemes due to the no-cloning theorem. Therefore, it is natural to wonder what kind of additional assumptions are necessary to bypass this barrier and design quantum secret sharing schemes for a wider range of monotone functions. Arguably, one of the most reasonable directions is to assume we have access to several copies of the quantum state to be shared. For example, this makes sense in the setting of multiparty computation, where each party has a classical description of their quantum input and thus may create as many copies as it wants. The following question arises naturally from this discussion:

How many copies are required to design quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all monotone functions in monotone P?

Chien [Chi20] considered this question for the special case of threshold monotone functions. More precisely, he gave a scheme showing (without proof of security) that

$$\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$$

copies of the quantum secret are sufficient to obtain a t-out-of-n quantum secret sharing scheme. Yet, the efficiency of such schemes was not considered. We exploit our approach to show that the t-out-of-n threshold function is the most demanding among all t-heavy monotone functions, and then construct efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for threshold functions given multiple copies, which allows us to settle (a more general version of) the question above in both the computational and information-theoretic settings.

Theorem 5. A total of $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies of the quantum secret are sufficient to obtain efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all t-heavy monotone functions f in monotone P assuming the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Observe that every monotone function f is t-heavy when t is the minimum size of its authorized sets. Therefore, given sufficiently many copies, we are able to obtain efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for any function $f \in \text{monotone P}$.

Corollary 2. For any monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ in monotone P there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme using at most n copies of the secret realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

If we are willing to settle for larger share size, we can obtain an analogous result for all *t*-heavy functions, including those that are not in monotone P.

Theorem 6. A total of $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies of the quantum secret are sufficient to obtain perfect quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all t-heavy monotone functions f over n parties.

Beyond heavy monotone functions. Our techniques can be applied to classes of monotone functions greatly generalizing the class of heavy monotone functions. Naturally, such classes of functions also inherit the hardness properties of arbitrary monotone functions detailed in Proposition 1. We give two interesting examples.

Weighted-heavy monotone functions. As a natural generalization of heavy functions, we consider weighted-heavy functions. Intuitively, in a weighted-heavy monotone function each party is assigned a weight – the function must evaluate to 0 for a set of parties if the sum of their weights is below some threshold t, and is otherwise unconstrained. Such functions can also be seen as natural extensions of weighted threshold functions.

Definition 2 (Weighted heavy function). Let $w : [n] \to \mathbb{N}$ be an integer weight function. A monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is said to be (w,t)-weighted-heavy if for any set $P \subseteq [n]$ with f(P) = 1 we have $\sum_{i \in P} w(i) \ge t$. Moreover, we call $W = \sum_{i=1}^n w(i)$ the total weight of f. If f is (w,t)-weighted-heavy for some w and $t \ge \lfloor \frac{W}{2} \rfloor + 1$, we simply call it w-weighted-heavy or just weighted-heavy if w is clear from context.

Note that all (w, t)-weighted heavy monotone functions with t > W/2 satisfy the no-cloning property, and we may see t-heavy functions as (w, t)-weighted heavy functions with w(i) = 1 for all $i \in [n]$. One of the reasons why this is interesting is the following proposition, which is related to Proposition 1 connecting general and heavy monotone functions and shows that weighted heavy functions strictly generalize heavy and weighted threshold functions (see Section 10.1 for a proof).

Proposition 2. There are families of w-weighted heavy monotone functions with total weight W = poly(n) which are neither heavy nor weighted threshold functions with poly(n) weights. Moreover, there exist such functions which are also in monotone P but require monotone span programs of size $exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$.

In general, we show that if the sum of the weights W is polynomial in the number of parties n and t > W/2, as is the case for the family of functions in Proposition 2, then we can construct efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for weighted-heavy monotone functions in monotone P, generalizing Theorem 2.

Theorem 7. If $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is a (w,t)-weighted-heavy monotone function in monotone P with total weight W = poly(n) and threshold t > W/2, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Trees of weighted-heavy monotone functions. Our techniques can be further applied to constant depth trees that are composed of gates computing weighted heavy functions. Concretely, consider the family \mathcal{F} of weighted heavy functions in monotone P with poly(n) total weight that satisfy the no-cloning property. Then, we design efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes realizing any monotone function computed by constant depth trees consisting of gates in \mathcal{F} with fan-in at most n.

Theorem 8. Let \mathcal{F} be the family of weighted heavy functions in monotone P with poly(n) total weight and fan-in at most n. If $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is computed by a constant depth polynomial size tree composed of gates in \mathcal{F} , then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Making a parallel with Proposition 2, we are able to show that trees of weighted-heavy monotone functions strictly generalize weighted-heavy monotone functions – in fact, depth 2 is already sufficient for this (see Section 10.2 for a proof). Recall that we had already seen in Proposition 2 that the latter strictly generalize heavy monotone functions and weighted threshold functions.

Proposition 3. There are families of functions $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ which satisfy all of the following at once:

- *f* is not weighted-heavy;
- $f \in \text{monotone } \mathsf{P};$
- f requires monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$;
- *f* can be represented as a depth-2 polynomial size tree of weighted-heavy monotone functions where each gate is in monotone P and has polynomially bounded total weight.

1.2 Technical overview

We now discuss our techniques and approach in more detail.

The general compiler. The starting point in our approach is a simple and versatile compiler which exploits the fact that we can perfectly encrypt a quantum state using a classical key. This compiler shares some ideas with Krawczyk's classical scheme [Kra94], and similar techniques have been exploited in an orthogonal direction to reduce the number of quantum shares in perfect quantum secret sharing schemes realizing threshold monotone functions [NMI01, FG12]. It combines a classical secret sharing scheme with the quantum one-time pad (QOTP) [AMTD00] and a quantum erasure-correcting code.

On a high level, our compiler works by perfectly encrypting a state using QOTP. Then, since the keys are classical, we establish the security according to the desired access structure by simply secret sharing the keys using an efficient classical scheme. Then, to allow any authorized set of parties to reconstruct the secret, we *distribute* the encrypted state using a quantum erasure correcting code. We note that the "hybrid encoding" approach we undertake here is prevalent in quantum computing. Other examples of this approach have appeared in the literature (see Section 1.3 for details).

Quantum erasure-correcting codes (QECCs) are a quantum analogue of classical erasure-correcting codes. Intuitively, a length-n QECC of dimension k maps an input quantum state ρ over k qubits into a higher-dimensional quantum state E_{ρ} over n qubits with the property that even if some qubits at known positions of E_{ρ} are subjected to any error, then it is still possible to perfectly recover ρ from the corrupted quantum codeword. General constructions with good parameters have been known since at least the seminal work of Calderbank and Shor [CS96] and Steane [Ste96].

More precisely, for a given monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$, suppose we have access to a *classical* secret sharing scheme $SS = (SS.Share, (SS.Rec_P)_{P \subseteq [n]})$ realizing f and a QECC QC = (QC.Enc, QC.Rec) with *n* components "realizing" some monotone function f' satisfying $f'(x) \ge f(x)$ for all $x \in \{0,1\}^n$. That is, QC corrects erasures in the complement of all sets P such that f'(P) = 1. Then, our general compiler proceeds as follows on input an arbitrary qubit ρ :

1. Sample a classical key $k = (k_1, k_2) \leftarrow \{0, 1\}^2$;

2. Encrypt ρ with QOTP using key k, yielding the perfectly encrypted qubit

$$E_{\rho} = \mathsf{OTPEnc}(\rho, k) = X^{k_1} Z^{k_2} \rho(X^{\dagger})^{k_1} (Z^{\dagger})^{k_2},$$

where X and Z are Pauli gates;

- 3. Share k using SS.Share, yielding classical shares (S_1, \ldots, S_n) ;
- 4. Encode E_{ρ} using QC.Enc, yielding entangled quantum systems (E_1, \ldots, E_n) ;
- 5. Set (S_i, E_i) as the final share of the *i*-th party.

Note that this compiler can be easily generalized to states of arbitrary dimension. Naturally, we need to assume f' (and hence f) satisfies the *no-cloning* property $(f(P) = 1 \implies f(\overline{P}) = 0)$. This must be so that we can employ an appropriate QECC. Nevertheless, there is no loss of generality, since, as we have discussed before, quantum secret sharing is impossible when f does not satisfy this property, due to the no-cloning theorem [CGL99].

We claim that the resulting scheme is a quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f. Let $(S_P, E_{\rho,P})$ denote the set of shares of ρ that belong to a subset of parties P. It is straightforward to show that we can reconstruct ρ from $(S_P, E_{\rho,P})$ when f(P) = 1. Intuitively, privacy when f(P) = 0 follows from the fact that S_P reveals almost no information about the key k, and so the tuple $(S_P, E_{\rho,P})$ also reveals essentially no information about ρ by the perfect security of the QOTP [AMTD00].

The compiler above opens an avenue towards porting results in classical secret sharing to the realm of quantum secret sharing by combining classical secret sharing schemes satisfying relevant properties (such as efficient sharing/reconstruction and small share size) with an appropriate QECC. The apparent bottleneck in this approach is the selection of the QECC, since designing efficient coding schemes for quantum states is more challenging than for classical strings. However, remarkably, we may take any code QC realizing any monotone function f' satisfying $f' \geq f$. This

means that even if we do not know efficient QECCs for f, we may instead hope to use an efficient QECC for some $f' \ge f$. Moreover, observe that we do not require any privacy properties from the *QECC* QC. In fact, the privacy of our quantum scheme follows directly from the privacy of the *classical* scheme combined with the perfect security of the QOTP, and we only need the QECC to distribute the encrypted state and overcome the no-cloning theorem.

We discuss the compiler in more detail in Section 3.

Heavy monotone functions. After setting up our abstract approach, we would like to instantiate it in concrete settings. Therefore, we turn our attention to the rich class of heavy monotone functions we discussed in Section 1.1 (see Definition 1). Taking into account Proposition 1 and the adjacent discussion, we know that there are heavy monotone functions f computed by poly(n)-size monotone circuits but which require exponentially large monotone span programs. This means that known methods [Smi00] for quantum secret sharing schemes realizing f require exponential share size.

We use our compiler to obtain the first quantum secret sharing schemes with information ratio below 1 and also the first polynomial-time quantum secret sharing schemes for all heavy monotone functions. We discuss this in more detail in the remainder of this overview. The crucial observation behind this is that t-heavy monotone functions f satisfy the following property: If Th_n^t denotes the "t-out-of-n" threshold function such that $\mathsf{Th}_n^t(P) = 1$ if and only if $|P| \ge t$, then

 $\mathsf{Th}_n^t \ge f.$

This is useful because we know simple and highly efficient QECCs realizing Th_n^t . For example, in this case we may take $f' = \mathsf{Th}_n^t$ and the efficient quantum Shamir threshold secret sharing scheme [CGL99] as our QECC QC in the compiler described above.

Computational quantum secret sharing of long messages with short shares. We exploit our compiler above to obtain Theorem 1, i.e., efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes with constant information ratio from standard hardness assumptions.

Note that when sharing a secret composed of m qubits the QOTP encryption in the compiler requires a key k of length 2m and outputs an encrypted state composed of m qubits as well. First, we may instantiate the classical computational secret sharing scheme SS as follows: Instead of sharing the key k directly, replace it by the output of a post-quantum secure pseudorandom generator [BCKM21] with a much shorter uniformly random seed s, and share s using an appropriate classical secret sharing scheme realizing f. Then, it remains to instantiate the QECC appropriately so as to encode the m qubits into shares as short as possible. To this end, we choose an appropriate Calderbank-Shor-Steane (CSS) code [CS96, Ste96] as the QECC.

CSS codes provide a general framework for designing QECCs from *classical* linear codes^{\parallel}. Such codes enjoy efficient encoding and decoding procedures [NC10, Section 10.4.2], and they may be seen as being analogous to packed secret sharing. We obtain our QECC by combining Reed-Solomon codes with appropriate parameters via this framework. More details can be found in Section 4.

Efficient computational quantum secret sharing. We now discuss how to obtain efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for all heavy functions in monotone P or in mNP. When f is heavy and is computed by poly(n)-size monotone circuits, we can set our classical scheme SS to be Yao's scheme [Yao89, VNS⁺03], whose privacy is based on the existence of one-way functions, or the Komargodski-Naor-Yogev scheme [KNY14], whose privacy is based on the

We say that $\mathsf{C} \subseteq \mathbb{F}_q^n$ is a *linear code* if C is a subspace of \mathbb{F}_q^n . For an extensive survey of linear codes, see [GRS22].

existence of witness encryption for NP and one-way functions. Note that both schemes are efficient. As our quantum erasure correcting code QC, we plug in quantum Shamir's scheme (Lemma 5). This leads to Theorems 2 and 3, which state that there exist efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for all heavy functions in monotone P or mNP, respectively, under the hardness assumptions detailed above.

For more details, see Section 5 and Section 6.

Perfect quantum secret sharing with share size breaking the circuit size barrier. We can also exploit the compiler to lift state-of-the-art results beyond computational secret sharing. In particular, we focus on a recent line of work improving general perfect classical secret sharing, and lift it to the quantum setting. This leads to Theorem 4, which states that there exist perfect quantum secret sharing schemes with a total share size of $1.5^{n+o(n)}$ classical bits and $O(n \log n)$ qubits realizing all heavy monotone functions.

To do this, we take any heavy monotone function f and set SS to be the classical secret sharing scheme realizing f constructed by Applebaum and Nir [AN21] with total share size at most $1.5^{n+o(n)}$, and QC to be the quantum Shamir secret sharing scheme for threshold functions with shares of size $O(n \log n)$ qubits [CGL99]. This leads to total share size of $1.5^{n+o(n)}$ classical bits and $O(n \log n)$ qubits, as desired. The security of the compiler in the information-theoretic setting immediately yields the desired result.

We discuss this in more detail in Section 7.

Quantum secret sharing with multiple copies. We also use our compiler to upper bound the number of copies of the quantum secret required to design quantum secret sharing schemes realizing *all t*-heavy monotone functions. More precisely, we exploit the aforementioned fact that

$$\mathsf{Th}_n^t \geq f$$

for any t-heavy monotone function f. Using this, we instantiate our compiler with an appropriate classical secret sharing scheme SS realizing f (which is not bound by the no-cloning theorem), and instantiate our QECC QC with an efficient perfect quantum secret sharing scheme realizing the much simpler threshold function Th_n^t using $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies of the quantum secret. As a result, for any t-heavy monotone function f, we get a quantum secret sharing scheme realizing it using $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies of the secret.

We show an explicit construction of *efficient* perfect quantum secret sharing schemes realizing any Th_n^t . Using this, we obtain Theorem 5, stating that we can construct *efficient* computational quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all t-heavy monotone functions f in monotone P from standard hardness assumptions using $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies, by instantiating SS with Yao's scheme for f [Yao89, VNS⁺03] and instantiating QC with the scheme we constructed for Th_n^t . Since every monotone function is 1-heavy, setting t = 1 in the theorem above yields Corollary 2, which states that every monotone function in monotone P is realized by an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme using at most n copies of the secret.

To get Theorem 6, which states that we can construct perfect quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all t-heavy monotone functions f using $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies, we may, for example, instantiate SS with the perfect classical secret sharing scheme by Applebaum and Nir [AN21]. More details can be found in Section 8.

Quantum secret sharing beyond heavy monotone functions. Finally, we discuss how we can use our compiler to extend the results on quantum secret sharing above well beyond heavy monotone functions. More details can be found in Section 10.

Weighted heavy monotone functions. As we saw in Section 1.1, the family of weighted-heavy monotone functions (Definition 2) strictly generalizes the classes of heavy monotone functions and weighted threshold functions, as made precise in Proposition 2.

It turns out that we can apply our compiler to weighted heavy functions in a similar fashion to how we proceeded for heavy functions and generalize many of our results. The key observation that enables this, similarly to the case of heavy functions, is that if f is a (w, t)-weighted heavy monotone function, it holds that $f \leq f'$ with f' a weighted *threshold* function with the same weight function w and threshold t. Therefore, we may instantiate our compiler with an appropriate classical secret sharing scheme SS realizing f and a QECC QC for the weighted threshold function f'. If the sum of the weights $W = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w(i) = \text{poly}(n)$ and t > W/2, as is already the case in Proposition 1, we can simply take the QECC to be quantum Shamir secret sharing over W parties [CGL99], and then give w(i) quantum shares to the *i*-th party.

In the particularly relevant case where f is computed by polynomial-size monotone circuits, we can combine the approach above with Yao's classical scheme realizing f to obtain Theorem 7: There exist efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all such weighted heavy monotone functions f under standard hardness assumptions. This generalizes Theorem 2.

Trees of heavy functions. Similarly to the approach undertaken by Yao [Yao89, VNS⁺03], we can compose our quantum secret sharing schemes further to realize monotone functions computed by trees composed of gates computing weighted heavy functions. For the sake of exposition, we focus on the setting of computational privacy. Suppose that f is computed by a tree T whose gates compute weighted heavy functions, and we wish to share $|\psi\rangle$ according to f. Following [Yao89], we can start by placing $|\psi\rangle$ on the output wire. Let g be the weighted heavy function on, say, a input bits computing the gate to which this output wire corresponds. Then, we share $|\psi\rangle$ using a quantum secret sharing scheme realizing g, leading to a quantum shares S_1, \ldots, S_a . We place the i-th share S_i on the i-th in-wire of the gate computing g, and repeat this process with each share until we reach the leaves of the tree.

The process above yields an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f provided that (i) We have efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for each gate in the tree, and (ii) The dimension of the quantum state to be shared in each step is always poly(n). Therefore, under standard hardness assumptions, we can consider all constant-depth trees whose gates are computed by weighted heavy functions in monotone P with poly(n) total weight satisfying the no-cloning property by applying the efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme from Theorem 7 iteratively to each gate. This corresponds to Theorem 8.

1.3 Related work

As already discussed above, previous works on quantum secret sharing has only considered perfectly secure schemes. Furthermore, the work on schemes for general no-cloning monotone functions have mostly focused on the *existence* of such schemes [Got00, Smi00]. The share size of Gottesman's scheme [Got00] for realizing a monotone function f corresponds essentially to the size of f when written as a monotone formula. Smith [Smi00] constructed schemes realizing f whose share size corresponds to the size of the smallest monotone span program computing f. In both cases, as we show here, there are many no-cloning monotone functions which require exponentially long shares under the schemes above, including some which are computed by polynomial-size monotone circuits.

Our work is the first to introduce computational privacy for quantum secret sharing schemes and the first to study notions of *efficiency*, such as polynomial-time sharing and reconstruction or small share size, for quantum secret sharing schemes realizing a broad class of monotone functions. Exploiting standard computational hardness assumptions to obtain significantly more efficient quantum secret sharing schemes, sometimes beyond what is possible in the information-theoretic setting, had not been done prior to this work, although this has been standard in the classical setting since the early work of Yao [Yao89, VNS⁺03] and Krawczyk [Kra94].

The study of the share size of classical secret sharing schemes already makes an appearance in the work of Benaloh and Leichter [BL88], which shows how to design general secret sharing schemes among *n* parties with shares of size $O(2^n/\sqrt{n})$. This remained the state-of-the-art result until a recent line of work [LVW18, LV18, ABF⁺19, ABNP20, AN21] managed to reduce the share size over arbitrary monotone functions to $1.5^{n+o(n)}$. Remarkably, the existence of a monotone function requiring shares of size $\Omega(\frac{nm}{\log n})$, where *n* is the number of parties and *m* is the length of the secret, obtained by Csirmaz [Csi97] remains the state of the art lower bound. In contrast, for the special case of classical linear secret sharing schemes we know that shares must be exponentially long even if we only wish to share 1 bit [RPRC16, PR17]. Gottesman [Got00] proved the only known lower bound on the share size of quantum secret sharing schemes, which states that the dimension of each important share (i.e., a share which contributes to reconstruction) must be at least as large as the dimension of the secret state. However, if one only wishes to share a *classical* secret with a quantum secret sharing scheme, then sharing 2*n* bits requires quantum shares composed by at least *n* qubits, and this is tight [Got00].

Other important variants of secret sharing, such as weak and verifiable secret sharing, have also been extended to the quantum setting for threshold functions [CGS05, BCG⁺06]. Such variants have proved useful in the design of quantum multiparty computation protocols. In particular, note that [CGS05] uses a similar compiler to ours in a different context and for unrelated goals. There has also been prior work on optimizing aspects of quantum secret sharing incomparable to those considered here. Some works have attempted to minimize the number and size of the quantum shares at the expense of larger classical components [NMI01, FG12], while others have considered the case where a subset of the parties is restricted to be classical [LQM13]. Finally, we note that the high level idea of hybrid encoding has also been utilized for different problems, such as for secure multiparty computation [BCG⁺06] and for fully homomorphic encryption [BJ15].

2 Preliminaries

2.1 Notation

We denote sets by uppercase letters such as S and T, and denote $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ as [n]. For a vector v and a set S, we write v_S to denote $(v_i)_{i \in S}$. For a family of sets $\{A_i\}_{i \in [n]}$ and a set $S \subseteq [n]$, we let $A_S = \bigotimes_{j \in S} A_j$. For a set \mathcal{R} , we write $\mathcal{R} \leftarrow \mathcal{R}$ to indicate that \mathcal{R} is uniformly distributed on \mathcal{R} . We use dim (\mathcal{H}) to denote the dimension of a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . We denote the base-2 logarithm by log. With a slight overloading of notation, we will also use $\rho \in \mathcal{H}$ to denote a density matrix ρ acting on \mathcal{H} . Whether we mean a vector in \mathcal{H} (representing a pure state) or a density matrix acting on \mathcal{H} (representing a mixed state) will be clear from context and variable name (such as $|\psi\rangle$ versus ρ). We use monotone P to denote the set of functions that have a polynomial size monotone circuit. We use λ to denote a security parameter.

2.2 Quantum information theory

In this section, we give an overview of the quantum information theory concepts we will be using throughout the paper. **Definition 3** (Total variation distance). The total variation distance between two random variables X, Y supported on the same set \mathcal{R} is defined as

$$\Delta(X,Y) = \max_{\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{R}} |\Pr[X \in \mathcal{A}] - \Pr[Y \in \mathcal{A}]| = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a \in \mathcal{R}} |\Pr[X = a] - \Pr[Y = a]|.$$

The analogue of the total variation distance in the quantum setting is the *trace distance*.

Definition 4 (Trace distance [NC10]). The trace distance between two density matrices ρ and σ with the same dimensions is defined as

$$D(\rho, \sigma) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} |\rho - \sigma|.$$

We also define the computational analogue, advantage pseudometric A, which satisfies similar properties as the trace distance. We later use it to prove lifting of computational privacy.

Definition 5 (Advantage pseudometric). For a family \mathcal{F} of quantum circuits with single bit classical output and for any two density matrices ρ, σ of appropriate dimension, the advantage of \mathcal{F} for distinguishing ρ versus σ is defined as

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho,\sigma) = \max_{C \in \mathcal{F}} |\Pr[C(\rho) = 1] - \Pr[C(\sigma) = 1]|.$$

See Appendix A for an overview of useful properties of trace distance and advantage.

Quantum one-time pad encryption. We recall quantum one-time pad encryption (QOTP) [AMTD00], which perfectly hides any quantum message using a random classical key. While we describe it for qubits, the generalization to qudits is straightforward.

The quantum one-time pad encryption scheme is defined by a pair of quantum encryption and decryption circuits (OTPEnc, OTPDec) with OTPEnc : $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n} \times \{0,1\}^{2n} \to (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n}$ and OTPDec : $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n} \times \{0,1\}^{2n} \to (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n}$ defined as

$$\mathsf{OTPEnc}(\rho,k) = (X_1^{k_1} Z_1^{k_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes X_i^{k_{2i-1}} Z_i^{k_{2i}} \otimes \cdots \otimes X_n^{k_{2n-1}} Z_n^{k_{2n}})(\rho),$$

$$\mathsf{OTPDec}(\rho,k) = (Z_1^{k_1} X_1^{k_2} \otimes \cdots \otimes Z_i^{k_{2i-1}} X_i^{k_{2i}} \otimes \cdots \otimes Z_n^{k_{2n-1}} X_n^{k_{2n}})(\rho),$$

for any message $\rho \in (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n}$ and key $k \in \{0,1\}^{\otimes 2n}$, where X_i, Z_i represent the quantum operation applying the standard Pauli gates X, Z respectively to the *i*-th qubit.

Lemma 1 ([AMTD00]). The quantum one-time pad encryption scheme is correct and perfectly secure for a randomly chosen key. That is,

$$\mathsf{OTPDec}(\mathsf{OTPEnc}(\rho, k), k) = \rho$$

for any key $k \in \{0, 1\}^{2n}$, and

$$\sum_{\in\{0,1\}^{2n}}\frac{1}{2^{2n}}\mathsf{OTPEnc}(\rho,k)=\sum_{k\in\{0,1\}^{2n}}\frac{1}{2^{2n}}\mathsf{OTPEnc}(\sigma,k)$$

for any two quantum states $\rho, \sigma \in (\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes n}$.

k

2.3 Quantum adversarial model

We now introduce our quantum adversarial model. By a QPT adversary or circuit C, we mean a non-uniform family of circuits $\{C_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \mathbb{Z}^+}$ with 1-bit classical output where each circuit has size bounded by $poly(\lambda)$ and is allowed to only use a fixed basis set of gates (e.g., $\{H, S, CNOT, T\}$), ancilla qubits each initialized to $|0\rangle$ and measurements only in standard computational basis. Furthermore, unless we explicitly state otherwise, we will assume that the adversary has access to quantum advice: that is, C_{λ} in addition to its input also gets a $poly(\lambda)$ size quantum state ρ_{λ} that depends only (but non-uniformly) on λ . When we say that some cryptographic scheme is *post-quantum secure*, we will mean that it is secure against QPT adversaries.

Note that models both with and without quantum advice have been considered in the literature. For example, Watrous [Wat09] and Bartusek, Coladangelo, Khurana, and Ma [BCKM21] consider the quantum advice model, while Adcock and Cleve [AC02] consider a model without advice. In the case of decision problems, it is not known if the quantum advice model is strictly stronger [Aar18].

2.4 Classical secret sharing

We now introduce a definition of classical secret sharing, which allows a party to distribute a classical secret among n parties so that only certain subsets of parties are allowed to recover it. The definition takes into account a monotone function f, indicating which sets of parties are then authorized to recover the secret, and which sets do not obtain information about the secret.

Definition 6 (Classical secret sharing [Bei11]). Fix a number of parties $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, a randomness domain \mathcal{R} , a secret domain S, and share domains S_1, \ldots, S_n . A classical secret sharing scheme with perfect privacy realizing the monotone function $f : \{0, 1\}^n \to \{0, 1\}$ is a tuple of functions

$$\mathsf{SS} = (\mathsf{Share}, (\mathsf{Rec}_P)_{P \subset [n]})$$

where Share : $S \times \mathcal{R} \to S_{[n]}$ and $\operatorname{Rec}_P : S_P \to S$ are deterministic functions satisfying the following properties for all $P \subseteq [n]$:

• Correctness: If f(P) = 1, then for all $s \in S$ it holds that

$$\Pr_{R \leftarrow \mathcal{R}}[\mathsf{Rec}_P(\mathsf{Share}(s; R)_P) = s] = 1.$$

• **Perfect privacy:** If f(P) = 0, then for all secrets $a, b \in S$ and share vectors $v \in S_P$ we have

$$\Pr_{R \leftarrow \mathcal{R}}[\mathsf{Share}(a; R)_P = v] = \Pr_{R \leftarrow \mathcal{R}}[\mathsf{Share}(b; R)_P = v]$$

When constructing secret sharing schemes, there are several parameters and properties of interest. First and foremost, we would like to ensure that the sharing and reconstruction procedures run in time polynomial in the number of parties n. We call schemes with this property *efficient*. Another natural and well studied measure of complexity is the *size* of the shares in a secret sharing scheme.

Definition 7 (Share size). Given a secret sharing scheme SS over the share domains S_1, \ldots, S_n , we define its share size, denoted by size(SS), as

size(SS) =
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lceil \log |S_i| \rceil$$
.

We will be interested in secret sharing schemes with several different privacy guarantees. We can replace the perfect privacy requirement in Definition 6 with weaker, but still natural, requirements to obtain statistical and computational secret sharing. For the latter, we introduce a security parameter that we pass to the scheme.

Definition 8 (Statistical privacy for classical secrets). We say that a secret sharing scheme SS realizing a monotone function f is ε -statistically private if for all $P \subseteq [n]$ such that f(P) = 0 and secrets $a, b \in S$ it holds that

$$\Delta(\mathsf{Share}(a; R_1)_P, \mathsf{Share}(b; R_2)_P) \leq \varepsilon,$$

where $R_1 \leftarrow \mathcal{R}$ and $R_2 \leftarrow \mathcal{R}$ are independent random variables.

Definition 9 (Post-quantum computational privacy for classical secrets). We say that a secret sharing scheme SS realizing a monotone function f is post-quantum computationally-private, or simply post-quantum computational, if for all $P \subseteq [n]$ such that f(P) = 0, all secrets $a, b \in S$, and for any QPT adversary $\{C_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda}$, we have

$$\left|\Pr_{R \leftarrow \mathcal{R}}[C_{\lambda}(\mathsf{Share}(a; 1^{\lambda}, R)_{P}) = 1] - \Pr_{R \leftarrow \mathcal{R}}[C_{\lambda}(\mathsf{Share}(b; 1^{\lambda}, R)_{P}) = 1]\right| \leq \mathsf{negl}(\lambda).$$

For brevity, we will hide the security parameter and the random coins R of the share functions when we do not need to use them explicitly.

2.5 Quantum erasure-correcting codes

We introduce the definition of a quantum erasure correcting code (QECC) [GBP97], which allows to encode a quantum state into another quantum state of larger dimension, so that the original one can be retrieved perfectly even when there are erasures (arbitrary errors at known positions).

Definition 10 (Quantum erasure correcting code). We say a pair of trace-preserving quantum operations QC = (QC.Enc, QC.Dec) is a quantum erasure correcting code (QECC) over the input space \mathcal{H}_{inp} and output space $\mathcal{H}_{out} = \bigotimes_{i \in [n]} \mathcal{H}_i$ for $P \subseteq [n]$ if for any quantum operation Λ on \mathcal{H}_{out} that acts as the identity on \mathcal{H}_i for all $i \in P$, it holds for all states ρ on \mathcal{H}_{inp} that

$$(\mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Dec} \circ \Lambda \circ \mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Enc})(\rho) = \rho \otimes \sigma$$

for some state σ .

If $(QC.Enc, QC.Dec_P)$ is a QECC for all sets $P \subseteq [n]$ such that f(P) = 1 for a monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$, then we say that the family of functions $(QC.Enc, (QC.Dec_P)_{P\subseteq [n]})$ is a QECC realizing f. As a shorthand, we define $QC.Rec_P(\tau) = QC.Dec(\tau \otimes (|0\rangle\langle 0|)^{\otimes \overline{P}})$. A quantum code that encodes k q-ary qudits into n q-ary qudits and can correct any d-1 erasures is said to be an $[[n, k, d]]_q$ code.

2.6 Quantum secret sharing

A natural analogue of classical secret sharing is sharing quantum states, introduced by [HBB99, CGL99, KKI99]. We start by formally defining quantum secret sharing with perfect privacy, and then introduce for the first time the alternative notion of computational privacy for quantum secret sharing.

Definition 11 (No-cloning function). A monotone function $f : \{0, 1\}^n \to \{0, 1\}$ is called no-cloning if we have $f(\overline{P}) = 0$ for any $P \subseteq [n]$ with f(P) = 1.

Definition 12 (Quantum secret sharing). Fix a number of parties $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, a Hilbert space S for the secret, and Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{H}_n$ for the shares. Let $f : \{0, 1\}^n \to \{0, 1\}$ be a no-cloning monotone function. A quantum secret sharing (QSS) scheme with perfect privacy realizing f is a tuple of trace-preserving quantum operations

$$QSS = (Share, (Rec_P)_{P \subset [n]})$$

that satisfy the following properties for all $P \subseteq [n]$:

- Correctness: If f(P) = 1, then (Share, Rec_P) is a QECC for P.
- **Perfect Privacy:** If f(P) = 0, then for any $|\psi_1\rangle$, $|\psi_2\rangle \in S$ it holds that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\operatorname{Share}(|\psi_1\rangle\!\langle\psi_1|)) = \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\operatorname{Share}(|\psi_2\rangle\!\langle\psi_2|)).$$

We call a scheme QSS *efficient* if QSS.Share, QSS.Rec are polynomial size circuits. Note that, in particular, efficient schemes have polynomial size shares. We can define weaker notions of privacy analogously to classical secret sharing in Section 2.4.

Definition 13 (Statistical privacy for quantum secrets). We say that a quantum secret sharing scheme QSS realizing f is ε -statistically private if for all $P \subseteq [n]$ such that f(P) = 0 and any secrets $|\psi_1\rangle, |\psi_2\rangle \in S$ it holds that

$$D(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{Share}(|\psi_1\rangle\!\langle\psi_1|)), \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{Share}(|\psi_2\rangle\!\langle\psi_2|))) \leq \varepsilon.$$

Observe that perfect privacy corresponds to 0-statistical privacy.

As in the classical case, we have two different notions of computational privacy, namely, against quantum adversaries with no advice and quantum adversaries with quantum advice.

Definition 14 (Computational privacy for quantum secrets). We say that a quantum secret sharing scheme QSS realizing f is computationally-private, or simply computational, if for all $P \subseteq [n]$ such that f(P) = 0, any secrets $|\psi_1\rangle, |\psi_2\rangle \in S$, and any QPT adversary $\{C_\lambda\}_\lambda$ we have

$$|\Pr\left[C_{\lambda}(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{Share}(|\psi_{1}\rangle\!\langle\psi_{1}|;1^{\lambda})))=1\right]-\Pr\left[C_{\lambda}(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{Share}(|\psi_{2}\rangle\!\langle\psi_{2}|;1^{\lambda})))=1\right]|\leq \mathsf{negl}(\lambda).$$

Note that requiring privacy (similarly, correctness) for pure states is sufficient, and privacy (correctness) for mixed states of any polynomial size follows by a simple diagonalization and triangle inequality argument. Also observe that any quantum secret sharing scheme for f is also a quantum erasure correcting code realizing f.

3 The compiler

In this section, we present a simple compiler that allows us to obtain several new results results by lifting a wide range of results on classical secret sharing to the quantum setting. As discussed in Section 1.2, these include:

• Efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for heavy functions in monotone P with information ratio *well below* 1 (i.e., with shares much shorter than the secret) from standard hardness assumptions. This is impossible in the information-theoretic setting.

- Efficient computationally-private quantum secret sharing for all heavy functions in monotone P and mNP. In contrast, known schemes [Got00, Smi00] require shares of exponential size for these functions (see Proposition 1 and adjacent discussion). The techniques can be further applied to classes of monotone functions that generalize heavy functions, including weighted heavy functions and trees of weighted heavy functions.
- Similar techniques can also be applied to obtain perfect quantum secret sharing schemes for heavy functions with share size $1.5^{n+o(n)}$, breaking the circuit size barrier.
- Polynomial size computational schemes for any function in monotone P given sufficiently many copies of the secret.

We now move on to the compiler. Unless otherwise specified, we assume any state space \mathcal{H} is $(\mathbb{C}^2)^{\otimes \ell}$ for some $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, that is, we are working with qubits. The generalization to qudits is straightforward. We will also assume $\ell = 1$ unless otherwise stated.

Compiler Description. The compiler combines a classical secret sharing scheme SS realizing a no-cloning monotone function f, and a quantum error correcting code QC realizing an appropriate no-cloning monotone function $f' \ge f$, to create a quantum secret sharing scheme QSS realizing f. In order to secret share a quantum state ρ , the scheme QSS.Share first samples a random classical key k and computes the encryption ρ' of ρ using the quantum one-time pad. We then distribute the classical key k using SS and the quantum state ρ' using QC. Intuitively, the privacy of the overall scheme follows directly from the privacy of the classical scheme SS and privacy of the quantum one-time pad.

The reconstruction procedure QSS.Rec is straightforward. We simply let the set of parties P reconstruct the state ρ' using the decoding procedure for QC and the key k using the reconstruction procedure of SS. The quantum secret ρ is then reconstructed by decrypting ρ' with the obtained key k via the quantum one-time pad.

QSS Share for f: QSS.Share(ρ).

- 1. Sample key $\mathsf{k} \leftarrow \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim \mathcal{S}}$.
- 2. Compute $\rho' = \mathsf{OTPEnc}(\rho, k)$, the encryption of ρ using QOTP with key k.
- 3. Let $(E_1, \ldots, E_n) = \mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Enc}(\rho')$ be the encoding of ρ' .
- 4. Let $(S_1, \ldots, S_n) = SS.Share(k)$ be a sharing of k.
- 5. Set (S_i, E_i) as the share for party P_i .

QSS Reconstruct for f: QSS.Rec_P($(S_i, E_i)_{i \in P}$).

- 1. Compute $\rho' = \mathsf{QC.Rec}_P((E_i)_{i \in P})$.
- 2. Compute $\mathsf{k} = \mathsf{SS}.\mathsf{Rec}_P((S_i)_{i \in P})$.
- 3. Compute $\rho = \mathsf{OTPDec}(\rho', \mathsf{k})$.
- 4. Output ρ .

We now formally state the main theorem.

Theorem 9 (QSS Compiler). Let $f, f' : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ be no-cloning monotone functions such that $f' \ge f$. Let $QC = (QC.Enc, (QSS.Rec_P)_{P\subseteq[n]})$ be a QECC realizing f' and $SS = (SS.Share, (SS.Rec_P)_{P\subseteq[n]})$ be a [post-quantum computational, statistical, perfect] classical secret sharing scheme realizing f. Then, QSS is a [computational, statistical, perfect] quantum secret sharing scheme for f with total share size

$$\operatorname{size}(\operatorname{QC}) + 2 \log(\dim \mathcal{S}) \cdot \operatorname{size}(\operatorname{SS}).$$

Moreover, QSS has efficient sharing and reconstruction procedures whenever QC and SS do.

Proof. Let us denote by $\xi_{\rho,k} = \text{QC.Enc}(\text{OTPEnc}(\rho, k))$ the encoding of the state $\text{OTPEnc}(\rho, k)$ using QC, and $\tau_{k,r} = |\text{SS.Share}(k, r)\rangle\langle \text{SS.Share}(k, r)|$ a sharing of the key k when the random input is r. Then, the scheme QSS can be formally described as

$$\begin{split} & \mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho) = \sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2 \log \dim S}} \sum_{r \in \mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{2^{2 \log \dim S}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} (\xi_{\rho,\mathsf{k}} \otimes \tau_{\mathsf{k},r}), \\ & \mathsf{QSS.Rec}_P(\sigma) = \mathsf{OTPDec}(\mathsf{QC.Rec}_P(\operatorname{tr}_{key}(\sigma))), \mathsf{SS.Rec}_P(\operatorname{tr}_{state}(\sigma)), \end{split}$$

where tr_{key} , tr_{state} denotes tracing out the subsystem corresponding to the shares of the key and shares of the quantum secret respectively. Here in the formalism, for simplicity, we encode the shares of the classical keys as qubits in basis states, however, they can be kept as classical shares in practice without any change to the scheme.

Showing correctness is straightforward. Lifting the perfect privacy of SS to perfect privacy of QSS will be a simple corollary of the statistical privacy lifting proven below. However, as a warm-up we first prove it directly. Consider any $P \subseteq [n]$ with f(P) = 0. Then,

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\operatorname{QSS.Share}(\rho)) = \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim S}} \sum_{r \in \mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{2^{2\log \dim S}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \xi_{\rho,\mathsf{k}} \otimes \tau_{\mathsf{k},r}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim S}} \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\frac{1}{2^{2\log \dim S}} \xi_{\rho,\mathsf{k}}\right) \otimes \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r \in \mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \tau_{\mathsf{k},r}\right)$$

$$= \sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim S}} \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\frac{1}{2^{2\log \dim S}} \xi_{\rho,\mathsf{k}}\right) \otimes \sigma_{P} \qquad (1)$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\operatorname{QC.Enc}\left(\sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim S}} \frac{1}{2^{2\log \dim S}} \operatorname{OTPEnc}(\rho,k)\right)\right) \otimes \sigma_{P}$$

$$= \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\operatorname{QC.Enc}(\sigma'_{P})\right) \otimes \sigma_{P} \qquad (2)$$

where σ_P, σ'_P are some states that depend only on $P \subseteq [n]$. Therefore, shares of an unauthorized set P do not depend on the secret ρ . The equality in Equation (1) is due to perfect privacy of SS and Equation (2) is due to perfect privacy of quantum one-time pad.

Now, we show that if SS is ε -statistically private, then QSS is 2ε -statistically private. First, observe the following relation between trace distance and total variation distance. Consider any two keys, $k, k' \in \{0, 1\}^{2\log \dim S}$. For each $v \in V = S_P$, define $p_v = \Pr_{r \leftarrow R}[\text{Share}(k; r)_P = v]$ and define p'_v analogously for k'. Then, using the fact that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r\in\mathcal{R}}\frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|}\tau_{\mathsf{k},r}\right) = \sum_{v\in V} p_v |v\rangle\langle v|,$$

it is easy to see that

$$D\left(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r\in\mathcal{R}}\frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|}\tau_{\mathbf{k},r}\right), \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r\in\mathcal{R}}\frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|}\tau_{\mathbf{k}',r}\right)\right) = D\left(\sum_{v\in V}p_{v}\left|v\right\rangle\!\!\left\langle v\right|, \sum_{v\in V}p'_{v}\left|v\right\rangle\!\!\left\langle v\right|\right) \\ \leq \Delta(p_{v},p'_{v}).$$
(3)

We now study the privacy of QSS. Consider a set $P \subseteq [n]$ such that f(P) = 0 and any two secret states ρ, ρ' . We will use a hybrid argument. First, we will argue that when we replace the shares of the key with shares of an independent uniformly distributed key, the composite shares of \overline{P} for the two secrets ρ, ρ' will be perfectly indistinguishable due to the perfect privacy of one-time pad from Lemma 1. That is, we will define the sharing of a random key

$$\kappa = \sum_{\substack{k' \in \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim S} \\ r \in \mathcal{R}}} \frac{1}{2^{2\log \dim S} |\mathcal{R}|} \tau_{\mathbf{k}',r}$$

and the hybrids

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_1 &= \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}} \left(\sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2 \log \dim S}} \left(\frac{1}{2^{2 \log \dim S}} \xi_{\rho, \mathsf{k}} \right) \otimes \kappa \right), \\ \zeta_2 &= \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}} \left(\sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2 \log \dim S}} \left(\frac{1}{2^{2 \log \dim S}} \xi_{\rho', \mathsf{k}} \right) \otimes \kappa \right), \end{aligned}$$

and will show that

$$D(\zeta_1, \zeta_2) = 0. \tag{4}$$

Then, we will show that composite shares of \overline{P} for the same secret are close in trace distance when again the shares of the key are replaced with shares of a random key, versus when they are not replaced. That is, we will show that

$$D(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho)), \zeta_1) \le \varepsilon \quad \text{and} \quad D(\zeta_2, \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho'))) \le \varepsilon.$$
(5)

Finally applying the triangle inequality will yield the desired result.

We start with Equation (4). By distributing the partial trace and using Lemma 11 (Item v.), we get

$$D\left(\zeta_{1},\zeta_{2}\right) = D\left(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{k\in\{0,1\}^{2}\log\dim\mathcal{S}}\left(\frac{1}{2^{2}\log\dim\mathcal{S}}\xi_{\rho,\mathsf{k}}\right)\right),\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{k\in\{0,1\}^{2}\log\dim\mathcal{S}}\left(\frac{1}{2^{2}\log\dim\mathcal{S}}\xi_{\rho',\mathsf{k}}\right)\right)\right).$$

Then, since the quantum one-time pad perfectly hides the input when the key is uniform (see Lemma 1), we get for some state ι that

$$D(\zeta_1,\zeta_2) = D(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Enc}(\iota)), \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Enc}(\iota))) = 0.$$

The inequalities in Equation (5) are proven using the privacy of SS and again properties of trace distance, along with Equation (3). By Lemma 11 (Items iii. and v.), we get

$$D(\zeta_1, \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho)\right)) = D\left(\sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2\log \dim S}} \frac{1}{2^{2\log \dim S}} \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\xi_{\rho, \mathsf{k}}\right) \otimes \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\kappa\right),\right.$$

$$\sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2 \log \dim S}} \frac{1}{2^{2 \log \dim S}} \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\xi_{\rho,\mathsf{k}}) \otimes \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r \in \mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \tau_{\mathsf{k},r}\right) \right)$$
$$\leq \sum_{k \in \{0,1\}^{2 \log \dim S}} \frac{1}{2^{2 \log \dim S}} D\left(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\kappa), \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r \in \mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \tau_{\mathsf{k},r}\right)\right).$$

Then, using Lemma 11 (Item iv.), we get

 $D(\zeta_1, \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS}.\mathsf{Share}(\rho)))$

$$\leq \sum_{k,k'\in\{0,1\}^{2\log\dim\mathcal{S}}} \frac{1}{4^{2\log\dim\mathcal{S}}} D\left(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r\in\mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \tau_{\mathsf{k}',r} \right), \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}\left(\sum_{r\in\mathcal{R}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{R}|} \tau_{\mathsf{k},r} \right) \right).$$

Observe that this is basically the statistical distance between classical sharings of keys k, k'. Therefore, invoking the ε -statistical privacy of SS and Equation (3), we conclude that

$$D(\zeta_1, \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS}.\mathsf{Share}(\rho))) \leq \varepsilon.$$

The same argument also shows that

$$D(\zeta_2, \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS}.\mathsf{Share}(\rho'))) \le \varepsilon$$

Finally, we combine these inequalities with the triangle inequality to obtain

$$D(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho)), \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho'))) \leq D(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho)), \zeta_1) + D(\zeta_1, \zeta_2) + D(\zeta_2, \operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{QSS.Share}(\rho'))) \leq \varepsilon + 0 + \varepsilon = 2\varepsilon.$$

Plugging in $\varepsilon = 0$ yields the desired result for perfect privacy, since Δ and D are both metrics.

Lastly, we consider the setting of computational privacy. Here, we use the quantum advantage pseudometric A, which, as shown in Lemma 12, satisfies the same basic properties that we use above for trace distance. Hence, replacing trace distance with advantage in the proof above proves the lifting of computational privacy. More specifically, by Lemma 12 (Item vii.), we get the following.**

- Suppose that SS is computationally-private with respect to QPT adversaries with no advice, that QC.Enc can be implemented by quantum circuits of size $poly(\lambda)$, and that any pure secret in the space of secrets can be approximated by a quantum circuit of size $poly(\lambda)$.^{††} Then, QSS is computationally-private with respect to QPT adversaries with no advice.
- If SS is secure against QPT adversaries with quantum advice and the shares of QC are at most $poly(\lambda)$ qubits, then QSS is also secure against the same family of adversaries.

 $^{^{\}ast\ast}Note$ that we need the extra assumptions below since otherwise one can construct pathological schemes and secrets so that the adversary obtains non-uniform quantum advice.

^{††}This is readily true, for example, if $\log \dim(\mathcal{S}) = \Theta(1)$.

4 Computational quantum secret sharing of long messages with short shares

In this section we consider the problem of sharing a long secret consisting of multiple qubits and prove Theorem 1, which states that there exist efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for all heavy functions in monotone P with information ratio well below 1. Note that all previously known quantum secret sharing schemes are information-theoretic and require a share size that is as large as the secret, as proven by Gottesman [Got00], even for the very simple case of threshold monotone functions. We show that we can achieve a scheme with individual share sizes much shorter than the secret, with the help of computational hardness assumptions.

Our scheme follows the template of the general compiler presented in Section 3, with the following sub-protocols: (i) the key used for the one-time pad encryption is generated using a pseudorandom generator (PRG) and its seed is shared using a computational classical secret sharing scheme with short shares, and (ii) a CSS quantum erasure-correcting code with low share size.

We formally describe the share procedure QSS.Share below. The reconstruction procedure QSS.Rec_P is as in Section 3, except that the key is generated by reconstructing the seed and evaluating the PRG.

QSS Share for f: QSS.Share(ρ).

- 1. Sample a seed $\mathbf{x} \leftarrow \{0, 1\}^{\ell(m)}$.
- 2. Compute k = PRG(x).
- 3. Compute $\sigma = \mathsf{OTPEnc}(\rho, k)$, the encryption of ρ using QOTP with key k.
- 4. Let $(E_1, \ldots, E_n) = \mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Enc}(\sigma)$ be the encoding of σ .
- 5. Let SS.Share(x) be a sharing of x.
- 6. Set (S_i, E_i) as the share for party P_i .

QSS Reconstruct for f: QSS.Rec_P($(S_i, E_i)_{i \in P}$).

- 1. Compute $\sigma = \mathsf{QC}.\mathsf{Rec}_P((E_i)_{i \in P}).$
- 2. Compute $x = SS.Rec_P((S_i)_{i \in P})$.
- 3. Compute k = PRG(x).
- 4. Compute $\rho = \mathsf{OTPDec}(\sigma, \mathsf{k})$.
- 5. Output ρ .

Correctness of the scheme is straightforward. Computational privacy easily follows from the privacy of the underlying PRG and the classical secret sharing scheme, by an argument analogous to the proof of Theorem 9.

Observe that by plugging in a pseudo-random generator PRG with polynomial stretch, it is possible to get the same ratio as that of the QECC for sufficiently long messages. As a concrete example, we show below a scheme with asymptotic information ratio $\frac{32}{2t-n}$ for any t-heavy monotone function in monotone P. Note that previous schemes [Got00, Smi00], or a naive application of

Theorem 9, both yield information ratio above 1 (in fact, exponentially or polynomially larger, respectively).

Before we prove our main result, we need to construct a suitable QECC. To that end, we need the following general template for CSS codes (for a definition of linear codes, see Definition 17).

Lemma 2 (CSS Codes [GBP97, Theorem 6] and [Rai99]). Let q be a prime power, C_1 an $[n, k_1, d_1]_q$ linear code, and C_2 an $[n, k_2, d_2]_q$ linear code with $C_2^{\perp} \subseteq C_1$. Then, there exists an $[[n, k_1 + k_2 - n, \min(d_1, d_2)]]_q$ quantum code.

With the help of this lemma, we can obtain a QECC with the required parameter trade-offs to achieve QSS with small share size.

Lemma 3. For any m, n, t with $n \ge t > \frac{n}{2}$, there is a $[[N, 2K - N, N - K + 1]]_{2^r}$ CSS code QC where the parameters are defined as follows: Let N^* be such that $N^* \log_2(N^*) = \frac{2mn}{t - \frac{n}{2}}$, and set $c = \left\lceil \frac{N^*}{n} \right\rceil$ along with

$$N = cn, \quad r = \lceil \log_2(N) \rceil \quad and \quad K = \left\lceil \frac{nc}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left\lceil \frac{m}{r} \right\rceil \right\rceil.$$

Then, for large enough m we have

$$2K - N \ge \left\lceil \frac{m}{r} \right\rceil$$
 and $N - K \ge c(n - t)$

Proof. In Lemma 2, use the same Reed-Solomon $[N, K, N-K+1]_{2^r}$ code guaranteed by Lemma 13 as both C_1 and C_2 . The inequalities follow by simple calculations using the values of N, K given in the lemma statement.

We are now ready to state the final theorem.

Theorem 10 (Theorem 1, restated). If f is a t-heavy monotone function, with t > n/2, computed by monotone circuits of size $O(n^d)$, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f with asymptotic information ratio at most $\frac{32}{2t-n}$ for secrets composed of at least $m = \Omega(n^{cd})$ qubits for a universal constant c > 0 based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Proof. Suppose we are sharing a secret s of m qubits. We will use the compiler above for f by setting $f' = \mathsf{Th}_n^t$ and plugging in the code QC below, a post-quantum secure PRG with polynomial stretch as PRG, and Yao's efficient classical scheme from Lemma 4 realizing f as SS.

Using the CSS code from Lemma 3, we can define the code QC for m qubit inputs as:

- 1. Pad the input to $\left\lceil \frac{m}{r} \right\rceil r$ qubits, which is equivalently $\left\lceil \frac{m}{q} \right\rceil 2^{r}$ -ary qudits,
- 2. Pad the input qudits to get $2K N 2^{r}$ -ary qudits,
- 3. Encode the input using the code from Lemma 3 and give output qudits $ic, ic+1, \ldots, (i+1)c-1$ to party i for $i \in [n]$

It is easy to see that this is a QECC for $f' = \mathsf{Th}_n^t$.

Observe that we are using $\frac{N}{n} 2^r$ -ary qudits per party, or equivalently $\frac{Nr}{n}$ qubits to share a secret of *m* qubits. Therefore, for the quantum code we get a ratio of

$$\frac{Nr}{mn} \le \frac{32}{2t-n}.$$

To see the ratio corresponding to the classical part, we can assume that seed length of the PRG is m^{γ} for some $\gamma < 1$ since PRG has a polynomial stretch. Then, for any constant $k > \frac{d}{1-\gamma}$ and for all $m \ge n^k$, the ratio of the classical part is

$$\frac{m^{\gamma} \cdot n^d}{m} \leq \frac{m^{\gamma} \cdot m^{d/k}}{m} \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$.

Finally, by plugging these into the compiler, we get a quantum secret sharing scheme for t-heavy f with an information ratio bounded by $\frac{32}{2t-n}$.

5 Efficient quantum secret sharing for heavy functions in monotone P

In this section, we use our compiler from Section 3 to design efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes for all heavy functions in monotone P. Before we proceed to the main theorem statement, we require the following results of Yao [Yao89, VNS^+03] and Cleve, Gottesman, and Lo [CGL99].

Lemma 4 ([Yao89, VNS⁺03]). If f is in monotone P, there exists an efficient post-quantum computational classical secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Lemma 5 (Quantum Shamir secret sharing [CGL99]). There is an efficient perfect quantum secret sharing scheme realizing Th_n^t for any t > n/2 with share size $O(n \log n)$.

We are now ready to prove our result.

Theorem 11 (Theorem 2, restated). If f is a heavy monotone function in monotone P, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Proof. Fix an arbitrary heavy function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ in monotone P. In particular, since f is heavy, it holds that

$$\mathsf{Th}_n^t \ge f$$

for $t = \lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1$. Therefore, it suffices to invoke Theorem 9 for f with $f' = \mathsf{Th}_n^t$, set SS to be the classical scheme guaranteed by Lemma 4, and set QC to be the efficient quantum Shamir secret sharing scheme from Lemma 5.

Note that, as discussed in Section 1, there are heavy functions in monotone P that require exponential size monotone span programs, and therefore previous methods can only yield exponential size schemes for such functions, whereas we are able to obtain polynomial size schemes above. See Section 9 for a more thorough discussion.

Similarly, we can lift the result of Komargodski, Naor, and Yogev [KNY14] to obtain efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for all heavy functions in mNP, based on the existence of postquantum secure witness encryption. See Section 6 for a more detailed discussion.

6 Efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for heavy monotone functions in mNP

In this section, we further extend the results of Section 5 and show that, based on stronger hardness assumptions, we can obtain efficient schemes for heavy functions in mNP using the result of Komargodski, Naor, and Yogev [KNY14] in the classical.

Before we proceed to restate and prove our main result in this setting, we must clarify what is meant by secret sharing for mNP. First, we say that a monotone function f is in mNP if the language $L = \{x \in \{0,1\}^n : f(x) = 1\}$ is in NP. The definition of secret sharing for functions $f \in mNP$ is similar to the definitions discussed in Section 2.6, except that we must also give the reconstruction procedure a valid polynomial-sie witness for the statement "f(P) = 1". We present a definition in the quantum setting. The corresponding definition in the classical setting is analogous (cf. [KNY14]).

Definition 15 (Quantum secret sharing for mNP). Fix a number of parties $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$, a Hilbert space S for the secret, and Hilbert spaces $\mathcal{H}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{H}_n$ for the shares. Let $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ be a no-cloning monotone function recognizing a language $L \in \mathsf{mNP}$, and let V be a polynomial-time verifier for L. A quantum secret sharing scheme (QSS) for mNP realizing the access function f is a family of trace-preserving quantum operations $\mathsf{QSS} = (\mathsf{Share}, (\mathsf{Rec}_P)_{P \subseteq [n]})$ that satisfy the following properties for all $P \subseteq [n]$:

- Correctness: If f(P) = 1, then for any valid witness w such that V(P, w) = 1, the following holds: if ρ_P denotes the shares of the subset P of parties, then $\text{Rec}_P(\rho_P, P, w) = |\psi\rangle$.
- Computational privacy: If f(P) = 0, then for any $|\psi_1\rangle, |\psi_2\rangle \in S$ and for any QPT adversary $\{C_\lambda\}_{\lambda}$, we have

$$|\Pr\left[C(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{Share}(|\psi_1\rangle\!\langle\psi_1|\,;1^{\lambda})))=1\right] - \Pr\left[C(\operatorname{tr}_{\overline{P}}(\mathsf{Share}(|\psi_2\rangle\!\langle\psi_2|\,;1^{\lambda})))=1\right]| \le \mathsf{negl}(\lambda).$$

We will also need the following result from [KNY14].

Lemma 6 ([KNY14]). If $f \in mNP$, there is an efficient post-quantum computational classical secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure witness encryption for NP and one-way functions.

We are now ready to prove our theorem.

Theorem 12 (Theorem 3, restated). For any heavy function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ in mNP, there is a computational quantum secret sharing scheme QSS realizing f with size(QSS) \leq poly(n), based on the existence of post-quantum secure witness encryption for NP and one-way functions.

Proof. The argument is analogous to the proof we gave in Section 5 for Theorem 2. Namely, we invoke our compiler (Theorem 9) for f with $f' = \mathsf{Th}_n^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + 1}$, and set SS to be the scheme given by Lemma 6 and QC to the quantum Shamir secret sharing scheme from Lemma 5.

7 Perfect quantum secret sharing with share size breaking the circuit size barrier

In this section, we use our compiler to break the circuit size barrier for the share size of perfect quantum secret sharing schemes for general heavy monotone functions, yielding Theorem 4. To

prove this result, we need the following state-of-the-art for general perfect classical secret sharing schemes by Applebaum and Nir [AN21].

Lemma 7 ([AN21]). Given any monotone function $f : \{0, 1\}^n \to \{0, 1\}$, there is a perfect classical secret sharing scheme realizing f with share size $1.5^{n+o(n)}$.

We are now ready to prove the main result, which we restate below.

Theorem 13 (Theorem 4, restated). If $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is a heavy monotone function, then there is a perfect quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f with a total share size of $1.5^{n+o(n)}$ classical bits and $O(n \log n)$ qubits.

Proof. We invoke Theorem 9 for f with $f' = \text{Th}_n^t \ge f$ for $t = \lfloor n/2 \rfloor + 1$, set SS to be the classical secret sharing scheme guaranteed by Lemma 7, and let QC be the quantum Shamir secret sharing scheme from Lemma 5. The number of bits and qubits in the shares follows directly from these lemmas.

We remark that, via our compiler, any future result which improves on Lemma 7 in the classical setting immediately translates into an improved matching result in the quantum setting. As discussed in Section 1, Theorem 4 improves on previous quantum secret sharing schemes [Got00, Smi00] for heavy monotone functions, since the share size of general linear classical schemes is much larger than that guaranteed by Lemma 7, and this holds in particular for heavy monotone functions by Proposition 1.

8 Quantum secret sharing using multiple copies

In this section, we study the power of quantum secret sharing when we have access to multiple copies of the secret. We define quantum secret sharing with multiple copies analogously to the definitions in Section 2.6, with a minor change: we require that the share function QSS.Share takes as input $|\psi\rangle^{\otimes k}$ where $|\psi\rangle$ is the secret and k is the number of copies we have access to. We give an upper bound, as a function of t, on the number of copies required to obtain *efficient* computational quantum secret sharing schemes for *all t*-heavy monotone functions (equivalently, all monotone functions with minimal authorized sets of size at least t) by showing explicit such schemes. This generalizes a result of Chien [Chi20], who non-explicitly showed existence of schemes only for threshold functions and did not consider efficiency and did not give a proof of security. In particular, our result implies that, given n copies of the secret, we can obtain *efficient* computational quantum secret sharing any function in monotone P.

We first start by showing that, given multiple copies, we can perfectly quantum secret share for Th_n^t . While existence of a scheme was already shown by [Chi20], we further show an explicit efficient scheme for any t. Then, by observing that any monotone function f is t-heavy when we set t to the size of minimum authorized set of f, we can use our compiler to get a polynomial size scheme for f as long as there exists a polynomial size classical scheme for it, which is true for any $f \in \mathsf{monotone} \mathsf{P}$ by Lemma 4.

Lemma 8. For any monotone function $g : \{0, 1\}^{n-1} \to \{0, 1\}$ and a perfect classical secret sharing scheme of size c realizing it, there is a perfect quantum secret sharing realizing the monotone function $h(x) = x_n \cdot g(x)$ using 1 qubit and 2c classical bits.

Proof. We can use our compiler (Theorem 9) with $f(x) = x_n \cdot g(x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})$ and $f'(x) = x_n$, along with the naive code QC realizing f' where we give the state directly to the *n*-th party. \Box

Lemma 9. For any $t \ge 1$, there is an efficient perfect quantum secret sharing of size $O(n^2 \log(n))$ realizing Th_n^t using $\max(n - 2t + 2, 1)$ copies of the secret.

Proof. The case where $t > \frac{n}{2}$ follows from Theorem 2, so assume $t \le \frac{n}{2}$. Observe that

$$\mathsf{Th}_n^t = \mathsf{Th}_{n-1}^t + x_n \cdot \mathsf{Th}_{n-1}^{t-1}$$

We will first show a valid quantum erasure correcting code QC for Th_n^t . Then, we will use our compiler with QC and classical Shamir's scheme to get a perfect QSS scheme for Th_n^t .

Suppose we can implement a QECC for Th_n^t using c(n,t) copies of the secret, with share size q(n,t) qubits and b(n,t) classical bits. First, observe that by invoking Lemma 8 with the classical Shamir's scheme, we get a scheme for $x_n \cdot \mathsf{Th}_{n-1}^{t-1}$ that takes as input a single copy and has classical share size $O(n \log n)$ and qubit share size 1. Therefore, by separately running the scheme for Th_{n-1}^t using c(n-1,t) copies and running the scheme for $x_n \cdot \mathsf{Th}_{n-1}^{t-1}$ using a single copy, we get a valid QECC for Th_n^t . Hence,

$$c(n,t) = c(n-1,t) + 1,$$

$$q(n,t) = q(n-1,t) + 1,$$

$$b(n,t) = b(n-1,t) + O(n \log n).$$

As the base case, by Lemma 5, we have

$$c(2t - 1, t) = 1,$$

$$q(2t - 1, t) = O(n \log n),$$

$$b(2t - 1, t) = 0.$$

Therefore, we recursively apply the construction above to get a QECC for Th_n^t . Finally, we use our compiler with this resulting QECC and the classical Shamir's scheme to get a perfect QSS scheme for Th_n^t that uses n - 2t + 2 copies of the secret and has qubit share size $O(n \log n)$ and classical share size $O(n^2 \log n)$.

Theorem 14 (Theorem 5, restated). A total of $\max(1, n - 2t + 2)$ copies of the quantum secret are sufficient to obtain efficient computational quantum secret sharing schemes realizing all t-heavy monotone functions f in monotone P assuming the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Proof. Observe that if f is t-heavy, then $\mathsf{Th}_n^t \ge f$. Since $f \in \mathsf{monotone} \mathsf{P}$, we can invoke the efficient classical scheme from Lemma 4. Plugging this scheme as the classical scheme and the quantum secret sharing scheme from Lemma 9 as the code in our compiler in Theorem 9 yields an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f using the desired number of copies. \Box

Corollary 3 (Corollary 2, restated). For any monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ in monotone P there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme using at most n copies of the secret realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Proof. Observe that any f is t-heavy for $t = \min_{P \subseteq [n]: f(P)=1} |P| \ge 1$. Invoke Theorem 5 to obtain the result.

The proof of Theorem 6 is analogous to the proof of Theorem 5 above, except that we use the classical secret sharing scheme from Lemma 7 instead.

Remark 1. It is known that quantum secret sharing schemes with multiple copies which feature independent sharing and reconstruction procedures for each copy of the secret require at least $\max(n - 2t + 2, 1)$ copies of the secret to realize the threshold function Th_n^t [Chi20], which is theavy. Therefore, improving our result above would require a fundamentally different approach.

9 Heavy monotone functions are as hard as arbitrary monotone functions

We have shown that we can lift many important classical results to the quantum setting for all heavy monotone functions. In this section, we argue formally that heavy monotone functions (recall Definition 1) inherit important hardness properties of arbitrary monotone functions, as captured in Proposition 1. In particular, some heavy functions in monotone P require exponential size monotone span programs.

Proposition 4 (Proposition 1, restated). Let mSP(f) and mC(f) denote the size of the smallest monotone span program and monotone circuit computing f, respectively. Then, for every monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ there exists a heavy monotone function $f' : \{0,1\}^{2n} \to \{0,1\}$ such that $mSP(f') \geq \frac{mSP(f)}{2n}$ and $mC(f') \leq mC(f) + n$. Moreover, if f is in mNP, then so is f'.

Proof. Fix a monotone function $f : \{0, 1\}^n \to \{0, 1\}$ and consider the associated monotone function $f' : \{0, 1\}^{2n} \to \{0, 1\}$ defined by

$$f'(x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}) = f(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \cdot x_{n+1} \cdots x_{2n}.$$

It is clear that f' is heavy, since f'(P) = 1 implies that $\{n + 1, ..., 2n\} \subseteq P$ and that P contains at least one of $\{1, ..., n\}$. Moreover, it is also easy to see that if f is in mNP, then so is f'.

We now proceed to relate the sizes of the smallest monotone span programs and circuits computing f and f'. Let M' be an MSP computing f'. For $i \in [n]$, define M'_i as the matrix consisting of rows of M' labeled by x_i , and let M'_{n+1} be the matrix consisting of rows labeled by x_{n+1}, \ldots, x_{2n} . Consider the MSP M obtained by vertically stacking $M'_1, M'_{n+1}, M'_2, M'_{n+1}, \ldots, M'_n, M'_{n+1}$, and labeling their rows $1, 1, 2, 2, \ldots, n, n$ respectively. Then, it is easy to see that M computes f. Observing that $\mathsf{MSP.size}(M') \leq 2n \cdot \mathsf{MSP.size}(M)$ yields the desired bound

$$\mathsf{mSP}(f) \le 2n \cdot \mathsf{mSP}(f').$$

To see the bound for monotone circuits, note that we can test whether $x_{n+1} = \cdots = x_{2n} = 1$ via a tree composed of less than *n* AND gates. Then, we can just compute an AND between the output of this tree and the output of *f*. Therefore, it follows that

$$mC.size(f') \le mC.size(f) + n.$$

We combine this proposition with recent strong separation results between monotone circuits and span programs [RPRC16, PR17].

Lemma 10 ([RPRC16]). There exist functions in monotone P which require monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$.

Combining Proposition 1 and Lemma 10 immediately yields the following corollary.

Corollary 4 (Corollary 1, restated). There exist heavy monotone functions in monotone P which require monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$.

Remarkably, this shows that there exist heavy monotone functions that can be realized by efficient computational *classical* secret sharing schemes based on standard hardness assumptions, but for which current methods for constructing quantum secret sharing schemes can only yield schemes with exponential share size.

10 Beyond heavy monotone functions

In this section, we discuss how to use our compiler to lift classical schemes for two natural extensions of heavy functions, which are provably richer families than the class of heavy functions.

10.1 Weighted heavy monotone functions

We start with weighted heavy functions, a natural extension of heavy functions analogous to weighted threshold functions.

Definition 16 (Definition 2, restated). Let $w : [n] \to \mathbb{N}$ be an integer weight function. A monotone function $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is said to be (w,t)-weighted-heavy if for any set $P \subseteq [n]$ with f(P) = 1 we have $\sum_{i \in P} w(i) \ge t$. Moreover, we call $W = \sum_{i=1}^n w(i)$ the total weight of f. If f is (w,t)-weighted-heavy for some w and $t = \lfloor \frac{W}{2} \rfloor + 1$, we simply call it w-weighted-heavy or just weighted-heavy if w is clear from context.

Observe that when $t > \frac{W}{2}$, a (w, t)-weighted heavy function is necessarily no-cloning and hence admits a quantum secret sharing scheme. We begin by showing that the family of weighted-heavy monotone functions with polynomial total weight strictly generalizes the classes of weighted-heavy monotone functions and weighted threshold functions.

Proposition 5 (Proposition 2, restated). There are families of w-weighted heavy monotone functions with total weight W = poly(n) which are neither heavy nor weighted threshold functions with poly(n) weights. Moreover, there exist such functions which are also in monotone P but require monotone span programs of size $exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$.

Proof. Consider the family of monotone functions $f: \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ given by

$$f(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \mathsf{Th}_3^2(x_1,x_2,g(x_3,\ldots,x_n)),$$

where $g : \{0,1\}^{n-2} \to \{0,1\}$ is an arbitrary heavy monotone function and Th_3^2 denotes the 2-outof-3 threshold function. It is clear that no such f is heavy since $\{1,2\}$ is authorized. Also observe that f is w_f -heavy for

$$w_f(i) = \begin{cases} n-3, & \text{if } i = 1 \text{ or } i = 2\\ 1, & \text{if } i \ge 3, \end{cases}$$

which satisfies W = 3n - 9. We claim that f cannot be written as a weighted threshold function with poly(n) weights whenever the same holds for g.

To see this, suppose for a contradiction that f is a weighted threshold function with weight function w and threshold t. For $P \subseteq \{3, \ldots, n\}$, let $w(P) = \sum_{i \in P} w(i)$. Then, if g(P) = 1 it must be the case that

 $w(1) + w(P) \ge t$ and $w(2) + w(P) \ge t$,

and so $w(P) \ge t - \min(w(1), w(2)) \ge t - \frac{w(1) + w(2)}{2}$. On the other hand, if g(P) = 0 then

$$w(1) + w(P) < t$$
 and $w(2) + w(P) < t$,

and so $w(P) < t - \max(w(1), w(2)) \le t - \frac{w(1)+w(2)}{2}$. Therefore, g would have to be a weighted threshold function with weight function w and threshold $t' = t - \frac{w(1)+w(2)}{2}$.

Finally, pick g to be a heavy monotone function in monotone P that requires monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$, whose existence is guaranteed by Corollary 1. Then, it is easy to see that f is also in monotone P. To see that f also requires monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$, observe the following. Consider any input such that $x_1 = 0, x_2 = 1$. Then, we get $f(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = g(x_3, \ldots, x_n)$. Therefore, since threshold gates can be computed by polynomial size monotone span programs, if there was a polynomial size MSP computing f, we could obtain a polynomial size MSP computing g by this hardwiring construction, which is a contradiction. Finally, observe that weighted threshold functions with poly(n) weights have polynomial size MSPs, and therefore g cannot be such a function. Then, by above, f cannot be a weighted threshold function with polynomial weights, as desired.

Observe that we have proved that there are weighted-heavy monotone functions with polynomial total weight, outside the classes of heavy monotone functions and weighted threshold functions with polynomial total weight which are in monotone P but require exponentially large monotone span programs. Hence, neither previously known perfect quantum schemes [Got00, Smi00] nor our results above on computational quantum secret sharing for heavy monotone functions (such as Theorem 2) yield efficient schemes for such functions. Nevertheless, below we use our compiler to construct efficient quantum secret sharing schemes for weighted-heavy monotone functions.

Theorem 15 (Theorem 7, restated). If $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is a (w,t)-weighted-heavy monotone function in monotone P with total weight W = poly(n) and threshold t > W/2, then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of postquantum secure one-way functions.

Proof. Let f' be the $\left(w, t = \left\lfloor \frac{W}{2} \right\rfloor + 1\right)$ -weighted-threshold function such that f'(P) = 1 if and only if $\sum_{i \in P} w(i) \ge t$. Note that $f' \ge f$. We construct an efficient QC realizing f' as follows. Consider the quantum Shamir secret sharing scheme from Lemma 5 realizing Th_W^t . Then, give any w(i) shares of this scheme to the *i*-th party. It is clear that this QC realizes f'. Furthermore, it is efficient since $W = \operatorname{poly}(n)$. We let SS be Yao's scheme from Lemma 4 realizing f, which is efficient since $f \in \mathsf{monotone P}$. Invoking Theorem 9 for f with this choice of f', QC, and SS gives us an efficient quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f.

10.2 Trees of weighted-heavy monotone functions

We now show that our results can be generalized even further. In this section, we consider the class of monotone functions $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ that can be represented as a constant-depth tree consisting of gates computing weighted-heavy functions of fan-in at most n and poly(n) total weight. We first show that this class of monotone functions strictly generalizes weighted-heavy monotone functions. This is true already for depth-2 trees.

Proposition 6 (Proposition 3, restated). There are families of functions $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ which satisfy all of the following at once:

- f is not weighted-heavy;
- $f \in \text{monotone } \mathsf{P};$

- f requires monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$;
- *f* can be represented as a depth-2 polynomial size tree of weighted-heavy monotone functions where each gate is in monotone P and has polynomially bounded total weight.

Proof. Assume that n is a multiple of 9 and define $k = \frac{n}{3}$. Let $g : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ be a heavy monotone function in monotone P that requires monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$. Note that the existence of such g is guaranteed by Corollary 1. For ease of the calculations we will show a function f on 2n bits, but this is without loss of generality. Consider the function

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_{2n}) = \mathsf{Th}_{k+1}^{\frac{2k}{3}}(\mathsf{Th}_3^2(x_1, x_2, x_3), \dots, \mathsf{Th}_3^2(x_{3i-2}, x_{3i-1}, x_{3i}), \dots, \mathsf{Th}_3^2(x_{n-2}, x_{n-1}, x_n), g(x_{n+1}, \dots, x_{2n})),$$

which is computed by a depth-2 tree of heavy functions, where each gate has total weight bounded polynomially and also each gate is in monotone P.

We claim f is not weighted-heavy. Consider any weight function $w : [2n] \to \mathbb{N}$ for f. Define the permutation $\ell : [k] \to [k]$ so that the sum of weights for the j-th sub-gate,

$$w(3j-2) + w(3j-1) + w(3j),$$

is the $\ell(j)$ -th smallest among all k such sums for all $j \in [k]$. Furthermore, for each $j \in [k]$, define $q_j = \operatorname{argmax}_{i \in \{3j-2,3j-1,3j\}} w(i)$. Then, consider the input $x \in \{0,1\}^{2n}$ defined as

$$x_i = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } i > n \text{ or } \ell(\lfloor \frac{i+2}{3} \rfloor) > \frac{2k}{3} \text{ or } q_{\lfloor \frac{i+2}{3} \rfloor} = i, \\ 1, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for all $i \in [2n]$. It is easy to see that f(x) = 1. Observe that x is defined so that (i) heaviest $\frac{k}{3}$ threshold sub-gates get all 0 as their input, (ii) for the remaining $\frac{2k}{3}$ threshold sub-gates, the heaviest input is 0 and the other two inputs are 1 and (iii) g gets all 0 as its input. As a result, we have that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{2n} x_i w(i) = \sum_{j=1}^{\frac{2k}{3}} \sum_{\delta=-2}^{0} x_{\ell^{-1}(j+\delta)} w(\ell^{-1}(j+\delta))$$
$$\leq \frac{2}{3} \sum_{j=1}^{\frac{2k}{3}} \sum_{\delta=-2}^{0} w(\ell^{-1}(j+\delta))$$
$$\leq \frac{2}{3} \cdot \frac{2}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{n} w(i)$$
$$\leq \frac{4}{9} \sum_{i=1}^{2n} w(i)$$
$$< \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{2n} w(i).$$

Therefore, f is not w-weighted-heavy for any w.

It is easy to see that $f \in \text{monotone P}$ whenever $g \in \text{monotone P}$. To see f requires monotone span programs of size $\exp(n^{\Omega(1)})$, observe the following. Consider any input $x \in \{0,1\}^{2n}$ that satisfies $x_i = 1$ for all $i \leq 2k - 3$ and $x_i = 0$ for all $2k - 2 \leq i \leq n$. Then, we get $f(x_1, \ldots, x_{2n}) =$ $g(x_{n+1}, \ldots, x_{2n})$. Therefore, since threshold gates can be computed by polynomial size monotone span programs, if there was a polynomial size MSP computing f, we could obtain a polynomial size MSP computing g by this hardwiring construction, which is a contradiction.

This proposition in particular shows that neither our previous results (such as Theorem 2 and Theorem 7) nor the previously known perfect quantum secret sharing schemes from [Got00, Smi00] directly yield efficient schemes for constant-depth trees of weighted heavy monotone functions with polynomial total weight. Yet, we can once again exploit our previous results to obtain efficient schemes for this more general class of functions.

Theorem 16 (Theorem 8, restated). Let \mathcal{F} be the family of weighted heavy functions in monotone P with poly(n) total weight and fan-in at most n. If $f : \{0,1\}^n \to \{0,1\}$ is computed by a constant depth polynomial size tree composed of gates in \mathcal{F} , then there is an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Proof. We will follow a gate by gate approach, analogous to [Yao89, VNS⁺03]. Let T be the tree computing f, as described in the theorem statement. We start by placing the single qubit secret state ρ on the output wire. Then, we share ρ according to the top gate using the efficient quantum secret sharing scheme from Theorem 7, giving the shares to each input wire coming to this gate. Then, we recursively repeat this for each gate below, re-sharing all the shares that gate has obtained using Theorem 7, until we reach wires that correspond to inputs x_i of f, whereby we give the corresponding shares to party i.

Note that this recursive procedure is efficient because we secret share for at most polynomially many gates and for each gate in this process (i) secret sharing for that gate is efficient by Theorem 7, (ii) the secret to be shared is of size poly(n), since the tree has constant depth and the gates have fan-in at most n. Observe also that this constitutes a valid QECC QC realizing f of polynomial size. Then, we let SS be the efficient computational classical secret sharing scheme from Lemma 4 realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions. Finally we invoke our compiler (Theorem 9) for f with f' = f, the QECC QC above, and SS to obtain an efficient computational quantum secret sharing scheme realizing f based on the existence of post-quantum secure one-way functions.

Acknowledgements

Research supported by the following grants of Vipul Goyal: NSF award 1916939, DARPA SIEVE program, a gift from Ripple, a DoE NETL award, a JP Morgan Faculty Fellowship, a PNC center for financial services innovation award, and a Cylab seed funding award. João Ribeiro's research was also supported by NOVA LINCS (UIDB/04516/2020) with the financial support of FCT - Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia.

References

[Aar18] Scott Aaronson. PDQP/qpoly=ALL. Quantum Inf. Comput., 18(11&12):901–909, 2018.

- [ABF⁺19] Benny Applebaum, Amos Beimel, Oriol Farràs, Oded Nir, and Naty Peter. Secretsharing schemes for general and uniform access structures. In Yuval Ishai and Vincent Rijmen, editors, Advances in Cryptology – EUROCRYPT 2019, pages 441–471, Cham, 2019. Springer International Publishing.
- [ABNP20] Benny Applebaum, Amos Beimel, Oded Nir, and Naty Peter. Better secret sharing via robust conditional disclosure of secrets. In *STOC 2020*, pages 280–293, 2020.
- [AC02] Mark Adcock and Richard Cleve. A quantum Goldreich-Levin theorem with cryptographic applications. In Helmut Alt and Afonso Ferreira, editors, *STACS 2002*, pages 323–334. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2002.
- [AMTD00] A. Ambainis, M. Mosca, A. Tapp, and R. De Wolf. Private quantum channels. In Proceedings 41st Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, pages 547– 553, 2000.
- [AN21] Benny Applebaum and Oded Nir. Upslices, downslices, and secret-sharing with complexity of 1.5ⁿ. Cryptology ePrint Archive, Report 2021/470, 2021. https://ia.cr/2021/470.
- [BCG⁺06] Michael Ben-Or, Claude Crépeau, Daniel Gottesman, Avinatan Hassidim, and Adam Smith. Secure multiparty quantum computation with (only) a strict honest majority. In 2006 47th Annual IEEE Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS'06), pages 249–260, 2006.
- [BCKM21] James Bartusek, Andrea Coladangelo, Dakshita Khurana, and Fermi Ma. One-way functions imply secure computation in a quantum world. In Tal Malkin and Chris Peikert, editors, Advances in Cryptology - CRYPTO 2021, pages 467–496. Springer, 2021.
- [Bei11] Amos Beimel. Secret-sharing schemes: A survey. In Yeow Meng Chee, Zhenbo Guo, San Ling, Fengjing Shao, Yuansheng Tang, Huaxiong Wang, and Chaoping Xing, editors, *Coding and Cryptology*, pages 11–46, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [BJ15] Anne Broadbent and Stacey Jeffery. Quantum homomorphic encryption for circuits of low T-gate complexity. In Rosario Gennaro and Matthew Robshaw, editors, Advances in Cryptology – CRYPTO 2015, pages 609–629, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2015. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [BL88] Josh Benaloh and Jerry Leichter. Generalized secret sharing and monotone functions. In Shafi Goldwasser, editor, Advances in Cryptology - CRYPTO '88, 8th Annual International Cryptology Conference, Santa Barbara, California, USA, August 21-25, 1988, Proceedings, volume 403 of Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 27–35. Springer, 1988.
- [Bla79] G. R. Blakley. Safeguarding cryptographic keys. In 1979 International Workshop on Managing Requirements Knowledge (MARK), pages 313–318, 1979.
- [BM21] James Bartusek and Giulio Malavolta. Indistinguishability obfuscation of null quantum circuits and applications. Cryptology ePrint Archive, Report 2021/421, 2021. https://ia.cr/2021/421.

- [CGL99] Richard Cleve, Daniel Gottesman, and Hoi-Kwong Lo. How to share a quantum secret. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 83:648–651, Jul 1999.
- [CGS05] Claude Crépeau, Daniel Gottesman, and Adam Smith. Approximate quantum errorcorrecting codes and secret sharing schemes. In Ronald Cramer, editor, Advances in Cryptology – EUROCRYPT 2005, pages 285–301, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2005. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [Chi20] Steven Chien. Augmented ((t, n))-threshold quantum secret sharing schemes, 2020. Senior thesis, Princeton University, available at: http://arks.princeton.edu/ark: /88435/dsp01fb494c46v.
- [CS96] A. R. Calderbank and Peter W. Shor. Good quantum error-correcting codes exist. Phys. Rev. A, 54:1098–1105, Aug 1996.
- [Csi97] László Csirmaz. The size of a share must be large. J. Cryptol., 10(4):223–231, 1997.
- [FG12] Ben Fortescue and Gilad Gour. Reducing the quantum communication cost of quantum secret sharing. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 58(10):6659–6666, 2012.
- [GBP97] M. Grassl, Th. Beth, and T. Pellizzari. Codes for the quantum erasure channel. *Phys. Rev. A*, 56:33–38, Jul 1997.
- [Got00] Daniel Gottesman. Theory of quantum secret sharing. *Phys. Rev. A*, 61:042311, Mar 2000.
- [GRS22] Venkatesan Guruswami, Atri Rudra, and Madhu Sudan. Essential Coding Theory. 2022. Draft available at https://cse.buffalo.edu/faculty/atri/courses/ coding-theory/book.
- [HBB99] Mark Hillery, Vladimír Bužek, and André Berthiaume. Quantum secret sharing. *Phys. Rev. A*, 59:1829–1834, Mar 1999.
- [KGH83] E. Karnin, J. Greene, and M. Hellman. On secret sharing systems. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, 29(1):35–41, 1983.
- [KKI99] Anders Karlsson, Masato Koashi, and Nobuyuki Imoto. Quantum entanglement for secret sharing and secret splitting. *Phys. Rev. A*, 59:162–168, Jan 1999.
- [KNY14] Ilan Komargodski, Moni Naor, and Eylon Yogev. Secret-sharing for NP. In Palash Sarkar and Tetsu Iwata, editors, Advances in Cryptology – ASIACRYPT 2014, pages 254–273, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [Kra94] Hugo Krawczyk. Secret sharing made short. In Douglas R. Stinson, editor, Advances in Cryptology — CRYPTO' 93, pages 136–146, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1994. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [KW93] M. Karchmer and A. Wigderson. On span programs. In *Proceedings of the Eighth* Annual Structure in Complexity Theory Conference, pages 102–111, 1993.
- [LQM13] Lvzhou Li, Daowen Qiu, and Paulo Mateus. Quantum secret sharing with classical Bobs. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 46(4):045304, jan 2013.

- [LV18] Tianren Liu and Vinod Vaikuntanathan. Breaking the circuit-size barrier in secret sharing. In *STOC 2018*, pages 699–708, 2018.
- [LVW18] Tianren Liu, Vinod Vaikuntanathan, and Hoeteck Wee. Towards breaking the exponential barrier for general secret sharing. In Jesper Buus Nielsen and Vincent Rijmen, editors, Advances in Cryptology – EUROCRYPT 2018, pages 567–596, Cham, 2018. Springer International Publishing.
- [NC10] Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. *Quantum Computation and Quantum Information.* Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [NMI01] Anderson C. A. Nascimento, Joern Mueller-Quade, and Hideki Imai. Improving quantum secret-sharing schemes. *Phys. Rev. A*, 64:042311, Sep 2001.
- [PR17] Toniann Pitassi and Robert Robere. Strongly exponential lower bounds for monotone computation. In Proceedings of the 49th Annual ACM SIGACT Symposium on Theory of Computing, STOC 2017, page 1246–1255, New York, NY, USA, 2017. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [Rai99] Eric M Rains. Nonbinary quantum codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 45(6):1827–1832, 1999.
- [RPRC16] Robert Robere, Toniann Pitassi, Benjamin Rossman, and Stephen A. Cook. Exponential lower bounds for monotone span programs. In 2016 IEEE 57th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS), pages 406–415, 2016.
- [Sha79] Adi Shamir. How to share a secret. Commun. ACM, 22(11):612–613, November 1979.
- [Smi00] Adam D. Smith. Quantum secret sharing for general access structures. *arXiv e-prints*, pages quant–ph/0001087, January 2000.
- [Ste96] Andrew Steane. Multiple-particle interference and quantum error correction. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 452(1954):2551–2577, 1996.
- [VNS⁺03] V. Vinod, Arvind Narayanan, K. Srinathan, C. Pandu Rangan, and Kwangjo Kim. On the power of computational secret sharing. In Thomas Johansson and Subhamoy Maitra, editors, *Progress in Cryptology - INDOCRYPT 2003*, pages 162–176, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2003. Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- [Wat09] John Watrous. Zero-knowledge against quantum attacks. SIAM Journal on Computing, 39(1):25–58, 2009.
- [WZ82] William K. Wootters and Wojciech H. Zurek. A single quantum cannot be cloned. Nature, 299(5886):802–803, 1982.
- [Yao89] Andrew C. Yao. Unpublished manuscript, 1989. Presented at Oberwolfach and DI-MACS workshops.

Appendix

A Quantum information theory

In this section, we present useful properties of the distance measures for quantum information introduced in Section 2.2.

Lemma 11 (Trace distance). For any two density matrices ρ, σ the following holds:

i. For any trace-preserving quantum operation Φ ,

$$D(\Phi(\rho), \Phi(\sigma)) \le D(\rho, \sigma)$$

ii. Assuming the states are of a composite system AB,

$$D(\rho^A, \sigma^A) \le D(\rho^{AB}, \sigma^{AB})$$

iii. For any two probability distributions $\{p_i\}_{i \in I}, \{q_i\}_{i \in I}$, and ensembles of states $\{\rho_i\}_{i \in I}, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I}, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I}\}$

$$D\left(\sum_{i\in I} p_i \rho_i, \sum_{i\in I} q_i \sigma_i\right) \le \Delta(p_i, q_i) + \sum_{i\in I} p_i D\left(\rho_i, \sigma_i\right)$$

iv. For a probability distribution $\{p_i\}_{i\in I}$ and an ensemble of states $\{\rho_i\}_{i\in I}$

$$D\left(\sum_{i\in I} p_i \rho_i, \sigma\right) \leq \sum_{i\in I} p_i D\left(\rho_i, \sigma_i\right)$$

v. For any state τ ,

$$D(\rho \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes \tau) = D(\rho, \sigma)$$

vi. For any states τ, v ,

$$D(\rho \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes v) \le D(\rho, \sigma) + D(\tau, v)$$

Proof. See [NC10, Section 9.2.1] for proofs of (i), (ii) and (iii). Inequality (iv) is a simple corollary of (iii) when q_i is set to p_i and σ_i to σ . Result (v) can be obtained from (i) by setting $\Phi(\gamma) = \gamma \otimes \tau$. Inequality (vi) can be obtained by applying triangle inequality in combination with (v) to $D(\rho \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes \tau)$ and $D(\sigma \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes v)$.

The advantage satisfies similar properties as the trace distance.

Lemma 12 (Advantage). For any circuit family \mathcal{F} and two states ρ, σ , the following holds:

- *i.* $A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho, \rho) = 0;$
- *ii.* $A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho, \sigma) = A_{\mathcal{F}}(\sigma, \rho);$
- iii. For any state τ ,

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho,\sigma) \le A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho,\tau) + A_{\mathcal{F}}(\tau,\sigma);$$

iv. Assuming the states are of a composite system AB,

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho^A \otimes |0\rangle\!\langle 0|, \sigma^A \otimes |0\rangle\!\langle 0|) \le A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho^{AB}, \sigma^{AB});$$

v. For any two probability distributions $\{p_i\}_{i \in I}, \{q_i\}_{i \in I}$, and ensembles of states $\{\rho_i\}_{i \in I}, \{\sigma_i\}_{i \in I$

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}\left(\sum_{i\in I} p_i\rho_i, \sum_{i\in I} q_i\sigma_i\right) \le \Delta(p_i, q_i) + \sum_{i\in I} p_iA_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho_i, \sigma_i) + \sum_{i\in I} p_iA_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho_i, \sigma_i) \le \Delta(p_i, q_i) + \sum_{i\in I} p_iA_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho_i, \sigma_i) + \sum_{i\in I} p_iA_{\mathcal{$$

vi. For a probability distribution $\{p_i\}_{i \in I}$ and an ensemble of states $\{\rho_i\}_{i \in I}$

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}\left(\sum_{i\in I}p_{i}\rho_{i},\sigma\right)\leq\sum_{i\in I}p_{i}A_{\mathcal{F}}\left(\rho_{i},\sigma_{i}\right);$$

vii. For any family \mathcal{F}' and state τ such that there is $C' \in \mathcal{F}'$ satisfying $C'(\rho) = C(\rho \otimes \tau)$ and $C'(\sigma) = C(\sigma \otimes \tau)$ for any $C \in \mathcal{F}$,

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes \tau) \leq A_{\mathcal{F}'}(\rho, \sigma)$$

Proof. It is easy to see that (i) and (ii) holds. Inequality (iii) is a result of triangle equality on absolute value. Observe that these show that $A_{\mathcal{F}}$ is a pseudometric.

For (iv), consider a subfamily \mathcal{F}' where the circuits ignore the subsystem B and use $|0\rangle$ instead. For (v), observe that there is a circuit $C^* \in \mathcal{F}$ such that

$$\Pr\left[C^*(\sum_{i\in I} p_i\rho_i) = 1\right] - \Pr\left[C^*(\sum_{i\in I} q_i\sigma_i) = 1\right] = A_{\mathcal{F}}\left(\sum_{i\in I} p_i\rho_i, \sum_{i\in I} q_i\sigma_i\right).$$

Then,

$$\begin{aligned} A_{\mathcal{F}}\left(\sum_{i\in I} p_{i}\rho_{i},\sum_{i\in I} q_{i}\sigma_{i}\right) &= \left|\Pr\left[C^{*}(\sum_{i\in I} p_{i}\rho_{i})=1\right] - \Pr\left[C^{*}(\sum_{i\in I} q_{i}\sigma_{i})=1\right]\right| \\ &= \left|\sum_{i\in I} p_{i}\Pr[C^{*}(\rho_{i})=1] - \sum_{i\in I} q_{i}C^{*}\Pr[(\sigma_{i})=1]\right| \\ &= \left|\sum_{i\in I} p_{i}\Pr[C^{*}(\rho_{i})=1] - \sum_{i\in I} p_{i}C^{*}\Pr[(\sigma_{i})=1] + \sum_{i\in I} (p_{i}-q_{i})\Pr[C^{*}(\sigma_{i})=1]\right| \\ &\leq \left|\sum_{i\in I} p_{i}\Pr[C^{*}(\rho_{i})=1] - \sum_{i\in I} p_{i}C^{*}\Pr[(\sigma_{i})=1]\right| + \left|\sum_{i\in I} (p_{i}-q_{i})\Pr[C^{*}(\sigma_{i})=1]\right| \\ &\leq \sum_{i\in I} p_{i}A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho_{i},\sigma_{i}) + \Delta(p_{i},q_{i}). \end{aligned}$$

Result (vi) is straightforward from (v).

For (vii), as above consider the circuit $C^* \in \mathcal{F}$ satisfying

$$A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes \tau) = |\Pr[C^*(\rho \otimes \tau) = 1] - \Pr[C^*(\sigma \otimes \tau) = 1]|.$$

Then, since there is $C' \in \mathcal{F}'$ such that $C'(\rho) = C^*(\rho \otimes \tau)$ and $C'(\sigma) = C^*(\sigma \otimes \tau)$, we get

$$A_{\mathcal{F}'}(\rho,\sigma) = \max_{C \in \mathcal{F}'} |\Pr[C(\rho \otimes \tau) = 1] - \Pr[C(\sigma \otimes \tau) = 1]|$$

$$\geq |\Pr[C'(\rho \otimes \tau) = 1] - \Pr[C'(\sigma \otimes \tau) = 1]|$$

$$= A_{\mathcal{F}}(\rho \otimes \tau, \sigma \otimes \tau).$$

B Coding theory

In this section, we state some basic concepts from coding theory.

Definition 17 (Linear code [GRS22]). An $[n, k, d]_q$ code C is a linear subspace of \mathbb{F}_q^n of dimension k with $\min_{c \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}} wt(c) \ge d$, where $wt(c) = |\{i \in [n] : c_i \neq 0\}|$ denotes the Hamming weight of c.

The following lemma is based on Reed-Solomon codes.

Lemma 13 (Reed-Solomon codes [GRS22]). For all integers $k \leq n$ and every prime power $q \geq n$ there exists an $[n, k, d = n - k + 1]_q$ linear code with efficient encoding and decoding procedures.